
City Council Meeting Agenda 

May 2, 2022, 6:00 p.m. 

2 S Main, South Hutchinson, KS 67505 

  

 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 

__Nisly __Schmidt __Weber __Garretson __Fairbanks __Scofield 

 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA (ADDITIONS/DELETIONS) 

D. CITIZEN COMMENTS 

E. HEARINGS, PRESENTATIONS, PROCLAMATIONS & RECOGNITIONS 

F. CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Approval of Minutes – Regular Meeting, April 18, 2022 

2. Approval of Invoices 

 

Motion _______________ Second_______________ Vote_______________ 

 

G. ACTION ITEMS 

1. Cell Tower Special Use Permit Application 

 

Motion _______________ Second_______________ Vote_______________ 

 

2. Market South Hutch Appointment 

 

Motion _______________ Second_______________ Vote_______________ 

 

3. GIS/Asset Management Software Vendor Agreement 

 

Motion _______________ Second_______________ Vote_______________ 

 

H. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

1. Independence Day Fireworks Show 

2. Land Development Code – Review & Update 

3. Miscellaneous Issues 

 

I.          CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 

J.          GOVERNING BODY COMMENTS 

K. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

1. Attorney-Client Privilege (5 minutes) 

2. Non-elected personnel (20 minutes) 

 

L. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Page 1



 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL 

AGENDA REPORT 

ITEM: 

F 1-2 

 

 

Meeting Date:   May 2, 2022 
Department:   Administration 
Prepared By:  Joseph Turner, City Administrator 
Agenda Title:  Consent Agenda 

 

Background/Analysis –Consent agendas are designed to take routine business items, non-
controversial items, and other matters where a consensus has been reached and combine 
them into one single motion and vote. Items on the consent agenda should not be discussed 
or debated by the governing body. Any member of the governing body may elect to pull an 
item from the consent agenda for a separate vote. 
 
Notable Items: 
 

• Approval of Minutes from April 18, 2022 regular meeting 

• Approval of Invoices 
 
Recommendation – Motion to approve the consent agenda as presented. 
 
Exhibit A – Minutes from April 18, 2022 Regular Meeting 
Exhibit B – AP Invoices 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 2



City Council Meeting Minutes 

April 18, 2022, 6:00 p.m. 

2 S Main, South Hutchinson, KS 67505 

  

 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 

X Nisly  X Schmidt  X Weber  X Garretson  X Fairbanks  X Scofield 

 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA (ADDITIONS/DELETIONS) 

D. CITIZEN COMMENTS 

E. HEARINGS, PRESENTATIONS, PROCLAMATIONS & RECOGNITIONS 

F. CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Approval of Minutes – Regular Meeting, April 4, 2022 

2. Approval of Invoices 

Approval of Cereal Malt Beverage License (Stuckey’s Travel Center Hutchinson – 

1515 South Main St.) 

 

Motion:  Schmidt  Second:  Weber  Vote:  5-0 

 

G. ACTION ITEMS 

            1.  Perfection of Water Rights File No. 40536 (Well #3) 

 

ACTION: Motion to authorize the Mayor to request a certificate of appropriation be 

issued early for Water Rights File No. 40536 from the Kansas Department of 

Agriculture. 

Motion: Weber  Second: Schmidt  Vote: 5-0 

 

2.   Special Counsel Services Agreement with Attorney Austin K. Parker 

 

ACTION: Motion to authorize the Mayor to enter into an agreement for special 

counsel services with attorney Austin K. Parker in an amount not to exceed $10,000. 

Motion: Garretson  Second: Fairbanks  Vote: 5-0 

 

3.  Special Events Permit for Fireworks Show at Our Lady of Guadalupe Festival 

 

ACTION: Motion to approve the Special Events Permit for Fireworks Show at Our 

Lady of Guadalupe Festival. 

Motion: Schmidt  Second: Weber  Vote: 5-0 

 

 

H. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

1. Development of Housing Presentation by Austin K. Parker 

2. 2022 Q1 Budget Update 

 

I.         CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 

J.         GOVERNING BODY COMMENTS 

K. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

1. Attorney-Client Privilege (to include Austin K. Parker) 

 

Exhibit A

Page 3



Motion for an executive session pursuant to K.S.A. 75-4319 to discuss Attorney-Client 

privileges and include Austin K. Parker for 15 minutes.  

  

        Motion:  Scofiled                Second:  Weber  Vote:  5-0 

 

Motion was made to call the meeting back to order. 

Motion:  Schmidt  Second:  Garretson             Vote:  5-0 

 

Motion for an executive session pursuant to K.S.A. 75-4319 to discuss acquisition of real 

property for 10 minutes.  

  

        Motion:  Schmidt                Second:  Weber  Vote:  5-0 

 

Motion was made to call the meeting back to order. 

Motion:  Schmidt  Second:  Garretson             Vote:  5-0 

 

Motion for an executive session pursuant to K.S.A. 75-4319 to discuss employer-employee 

negotiations for 5 minutes.  

  

        Motion:  Schmidt                Second:  Weber  Vote:  5-0 

 

Motion was made to call the meeting back to order. 

Motion:  Schmidt  Second:  Garretson             Vote:5-0 

 

L. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Motion:  Schmidt     Second: Garretson   Vote: 5-0 
 

Exhibit A

Page 4



Invoice Approval List

May 2, 2022

Gen Gov Description Vendor Inv. Amt

101-101-6000 Phone System Vaspian $118.50

101-101-6002 Attorney Service Stan Juhnke $2,000.00

101-101-6002 Computer Support Leading Edge Technology $111.00

101-101-6002 CMB fee to State KS Dept of Revenue $25.00

101-101-6002 Public Hearing GateHouse $56.48

101-101-6011 IIMC Membership Int Institute of Municipal Clerk $175.00

101-101-7000 Cartridge Better Image $51.95

101-101-7002 Flags First Bank Card $121.28

101-101-7005 Reimbursement Joseph Turner $350.00

$3,009.21

Police Description Vendor Inv. Amt

101-102-6000 Phone System Vaspian $288.00

101-102-6002 Computer Support Leading Edge Technology $872.51

101-102-6002 Amazon membership & KBI Lab First Bank Card $31.69

101-102-6002 Radio repair TBS $120.00

101-102-6004 Oil and filter change Allen Samuels $157.05

101-102-6004 Evidence tags First Bank Card $32.98

101-102-6011 KACP Membership First Bank Card $100.00

101-102-6012 Video training First Bank Card $395.00

101-102-7002 Flags First Bank Card $121.27

101-102-7002 Vacuum, bags, cleaners Janitorial Supply $793.08

101-102-7003 Fuel Bridgman $414.37

101-102-7009 Tourniquet holder First Bank Card $16.77

$3,342.72

Street Description Vendor Inv. Amt

101-103-6000 Phone System Vaspian $85.00

101-103-6002 Computer Support Leading Edge Technology $96.67

101-103-6003 Uniform cleaning Unifirst $77.97

101-103-7002 Weed eater head Fairview $105.00

101-103-7002 Flags First Bank Card $121.28

101-103-7002 Squeegee, signs Janitorial Supply $172.72

101-103-7002 Cold patch Crafco $1,320.00

101-103-7002 Fyfanon Spray Van Diest $1,470.00

101-103-7003 Fuel Bridgman $65.28

$3,513.92

Fire Description Vendor Inv. Amt

101-104-6000 Phone System Vaspian $67.50

101-104-6002 Computer support Leading Edge Technology $106.23

101-104-6003 Sensor and yellow lens First Bank Card $362.86

101-104-6004 Annual fee for Fire Suite Emergency Networking $2,590.00

101-104-7000 Paper First Bank Card $20.48

101-104-7001 Pizza First Bank Card $35.00

101-104-7002 Batteries First Bank Card $25.98

101-104-7002 Decals Witmer $97.76

101-104-7003 Fuel Bridgman $59.67

101-104-8000 Gas monitor First Bank Card $224.66

$3,590.14

1

Exhibit B

Page 5



Invoice Approval List

May 2, 2022

Park Description Vendor Inv. Amt

101-105-6001 Irrigation insurance Chubb $4,081.00

101-105-7002 Pipe and valves Westlake $40.97

$4,121.97

Court Description Vendor Inv. Amt

101-106-6004 Report for Court Kansas State Treasurer $100.00

101-106-6004 Retrievals Underground Vaults $19.00

101-106-6016 Judge Service Larry Bolton $1,100.00

101-106-6016 Attorney service Rick Roberts $1,100.00

101-106-6018 Court Apt Atty Jennifer Lautz $150.00

101-106-6018 Court Apt Atty Benjamin Fisher $75.00

$2,544.00

GENERAL TOTAL $20,121.96

Water Description Vendor Inv. Amt

201-000-6002 Computer Support Leading Edge Technology $151.45

201-000-6002 Bore at 45 Detroit Appel Company $600.00

201-000-6003 Uniform cleaning Unifirst $77.98

201-000-7001 KRWA Meals First Bank Card $19.87

201-000-7001 KRWA Conference Kansas Rural Water $452.50

201-000-7002 Tubing, meter, valves Core & Main $2,555.31

201-000-7002 Shipping of water samples First Bank Card $19.80

201-000-7002 Batteries Dynamic Electronics $34.44

201-000-7002 Flags USA Bluebook $41.96

201-000-7002 Connectors, clamps, pipe Westlake $59.86

201-000-7003 Fuel Bridgman $80.73

$4,093.90

Sewer Description Vendor Inv. Amt

301-000-6002 Computer Support Leading Edge Technology $151.45

301-000-6002 Lab Analysis SDK $598.00

301-000-6003 Uniform cleaning Unifirst $77.97

301-000-6003 Grit removal Reno County Solid Waste $41.00

301-000-7001 KRWA Meals First Bank Card $19.87

301-000-7001 KRWA Conference Kansas Rural Water $452.50

301-000-7002 Hydraulic hose B&B Hydraulic $125.62

301-000-7002 Angle Iron Dan Dee $42.50

301-000-7002 Chemicals and flags USA Bluebook $94.36

301-000-7002 Valves and adapters Westlake $31.77

301-000-7003 Fuel Bridgman $155.66

$1,790.70

Sales/Street Description Vendor Inv. Amt

403-000-7013 Web Hosting Immense Impact $1,196.50

$1,196.50

2

Exhibit B

Page 6



Invoice Approval List

May 2, 2022

Com Ctr Description Vendor Inv. Amt

811-000-7002 Flags First Bank Card $121.27

811-000-7002 Liners, tissue, towels Janitorial Supply $161.12

$282.39

Equip Res Description Vendor Inv. Amt

901-000-8023 Boot Danko $405.00

$405.00

GRAND TOTAL $27,890.45

3

Exhibit B

Page 7



 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

ITEM: 
G 1 

 

 

Meeting Date:   May 2, 2022 
Department:   Administration 
Prepared By:  Joseph Turner, City Administrator 
Agenda Title:  Cell Tower Special Use Permit Application 

 

Background/Analysis – The Council will be asked to approve a cell tower special use 
permit application submitted by Harmoni Towers (Harmoni). Harmoni seeks to build a 
cell tower near an existing cell tower owned by SBA Towers V, LLC (SBA) down by 
Crupper’s Corner. Harmoni is represented by attorney Glenda Cafer. SBA opposes the 
application and is represented by attorneys Patrick Edwards and Luke VanFleteren.  
 
At the April 11 meeting the planning commission voted 5-1 to recommend the approval 
of the application. This followed an initial vote in opposition to that failed on a 2-4 vote. 
 

Governing Body Options 
 
I want to set forth what I understand to be the options available to the governing body: 
 

• Adopt the recommendation (simple majority) 

• Override the planning commission’s recommendation (requires 2/3rd vote) 

• Return the recommendation to the planning commission with a statement 
specifying the basis for the governing body’s failure to approve or disapprove 

o The planning commission may re-submit their recommendation to the 
council with their reasoning; or 

o Submit a new or amended recommendation 

• Upon a re-submission by the planning commission, the governing body may 
revise, amend, or adopt the recommendation by a simple majority 

 
Protests & Appeals 
 
Aggrieved parties, including property owners within the notification area, Harmoni, and 
SBA, must seek redress through district court during the 30-day period after the city 
council makes a final decision on the permit application 
 

Harmoni’s Application Submission & 150-Day Requirement 
 

There has been some confusion regarding the actual date that Harmoni submitted their 
application. The date of the application is important because KSA 66-2019(h)(3) states 
that “an application shall be deemed approved if an authority fails to act on an 
application…within the 150-calendar day review period.” 
 
A previous Harmoni employee named Cheryl Marlin began working with Code 
Enforcement Officer Matt Mock in October/November of 2021. Harmoni believes that 
Marlin applied around this time. In her letter dated March 8, 2021, Ms. Cafer argues on 
 
 

Page 8



 
 
behalf of the applicant that the 150-day clock began running on 11/22/2021 and expires 
on 4/21/2022. 
 
This is based on miscommunication between Harmoni representative Mike Nuckols and 
Mock in February.  
 
We have no record of receiving this application and it is important to note that Harmoni 
has never presented a copy of a filed application with a date-stamp, nor have they 
submitted a copy of an email with an attachment from Marlin to support this claim. 
 
The actual application was submitted on March 17, 2022, and the 150-day clock began 
at that point. Unless Harmoni can present a copy of the application that was allegedly 
submitted in November, I reject the notion that the 150-day clock started then.  
 

Summary of Arguments 
 
I will attempt to summarize the respective arguments and issues raised by Harmoni and 
SBA. These arguments were made at the January 11 and April 11 planning commission 
meetings, as well as written correspondence by attorneys for both parties. 
 
SBA’s Position 
 
The initial thrust of SBA’s arguments in opposition to the application were 
communicated in a February 10 letter to Mock by Edwards after the January 11 
meeting. Their arguments centered on the following: 
 

1. Harmoni had not submitted an application nor a statement on the proposed use 
as required by South Hutchinson Code 27-104(24) and 27-101; and 

2. The proposed tower does not satisfy the setback requirements from Code 27-
104(24)(A); and 

3. That KSA 66-2019 only applies to cell towers located on public property 
 
At the April 11 meeting, VanFleteren also introduced a letter from Susan Mulvaney, the 
SBA site marketing manager responsible for Kansas. The letter states that she is the 
primary point of contact for AT&T with respect to all leasing matters. Mulvaney 
maintains that AT&T has not contacted her to express any concerns or displeasure with 
their current lease agreement and that AT&T amended the lease agreement in 2019. 
 
Harmoni’s Position 
 
Cafer penned a rebuttal to the Edwards’ letter dated March 8, 2022.  Cafer sets forth 
Harmoni’s position as follows: 
 

1. Federal law, and namely the Telecommunications Act of 1996, limits the authority 
of local governments to deny applications for the construction of wireless towers 
within their jurisdiction; and 

2. KSA-66-2019 is applicable to the building of cell towers on private property. 
3. Engineering standards would allow the tower to be constructed in such a manner 

so that the “fall zone” was confined within the parcel; and 
4. The 150-day deadline clock began ticking in November of 2021. 

 
Page 9



 
 
At the April 11 meeting, Harmoni representatives argued that state and federal law is 
very broad and that there are few legitimate reasons for obstructing the building of cell 
towers. They maintain additional towers will increase competition and result in better 
service to customers.  
 
They also argued that the existing cell tower at Crupper’s Corner is in violation of the 
existing setback requirements and that opposing their application on these grounds 
would be a double standard.  
 

Conclusion 
 
I have reviewed and studied the arguments presented by both parties. Our land 
development code plainly states that “the location of every tower must be such that it is 
at least an equal distance from all property lines as it is in height” (Code 27-104(24)(A)). 
Additionally, the code does not provide for any setback allowance or exceptions based 
on how a tower is engineered.  
 
While I am sympathetic to arguments that the previous tower appears to have been built 
even though it violates the setback requirements, I am not sympathetic to the notion that 
once one exception, or even a mistake has been made, that the governing body is then 
perpetually obligated to repeat the same mistake(s).  
 
Additionally, there are important distinctions between the existing and proposed towers: 
 

1. The owner of the existing tower was not the original applicant and purchased the 
asset after its construction. 

2. There is no record of any opposition to the application of the existing tower.  
3. It is reasonable to presume that the original tower provided a much needed and 

valuable service to area residents and that the benefits of tower outweighed the 
setback requirement concerns. There is no evidence that the building of a 
second tower will enhance the existing service provided to our residents. 

 
If members of the governing body would like the tower erected, then I believe the land 
development code should be amended. 
 
Financial Impact – None. 
 
Recommendation – Staff recommends the Council override the planning commission’s 
recommendation or return the with a statement specifying the basis for the governing body’s 
failure to approve. 
 
Exhibit C – Harmoni Towers Special Use Permit Application Packet 
Exhibit D – Harmoni Towers Supporting Documentation Packet 
Exhibit E – SBA Towers Supporting Documentation Packet 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



Exhibit C - 1

Page 11



Exhibit C - 2

Page 12



Exhibit C - 3

Page 13



Exhibit C - 4

Page 14



Exhibit C - 5

Page 15



Exhibit C - 6

Page 16



Exhibit C - 7

Page 17



Exhibit C - 8

Page 18



Exhibit C - 9

Page 19



Exhibit C - 10

Page 20



Exhibit C - 11

Page 21



Exhibit C - 12

Page 22



Exhibit C - 13

Page 23



Exhibit C - 14

Page 24



 

 
 

800 S.W. Jackson Street, Suite 1310  •  Topeka, KS 66612 

Tel: 785.232.2662  •  Fax: 785.232.9983  •  www.MorrisLaing.com 

Wichita, KS  •  Topeka, KS  •  West Palm Beach, FL  •  Chicago, IL   

   

  Sender’s email: gcafer@morrislaing.com  
    Direct Phone: (785)430-2003  
    Direct Fax: (785)232-9983   
 

 
March 8, 2022 

 

 

 

Matt Mock 

South Hutchinson Code Enforcement Officer 

via email to: Mock@southhutch.com 

  

Re: Harmoni Towers Conditional Use Permit (CUP) in South Hutchinson, Kansas 

  

 

Dear Mr. Mock: 

 

My name is Glenda Cafer and I represent Harmoni Towers (Harmoni) on its request for a 

Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to build a cell tower in South Hutchinson. I attended the Planning 

Commission (Commission) meeting on January 11, 2022, at which Harmoni’s application was 

initially considered. 

 

This letter is in response to the February 10, 2022, letter submitted by Mr. Patrick Edwards on 

behalf of SBA Towers V, LLC (SBA). I am also responding to your February 15th email to Mike 

Nuckols, Harmoni’s land representative on this project, indicating that Harmoni’s application was 

deleted from the City’s computers when your predecessor left employment and that the best way 

for this to go forward is for Harmoni to start all over again with a new application. 

 

 

I. Background Information 

 

In late October or early September of 2021, Harmoni’s previous land representative, Cheryl 

Marlin, began working with the city on Harmoni’s CUP application.  A short summary of events 

is helpful to understand the status of this case and Harmoni’s positions set out below: 

 

09/07/21 Ms. Marlin sent an email to Joseph Turner (City Administrator) submitting 

Harmoni’s survey in follow-up to their phone conversation on that day.  She told 

Robert I. Guenthner 
A.J. Schwartz 
Jeffery L. Carmichael 
Robert W. Coykendall 
Robert K. Anderson 
Karl R. Swartz 
Roger L. Theis 
Diane H. Sorensen 
Janet Huck Ward 
Roger N. Walter 
S. Lucky DeFries 
James D. Young 
Kimberly K. Bonifas 
Cameron V. Michaud 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Ryan M. Peck 
Shannon M. Braun 
Will B. Wohlford 
Danielle J. Carter◊ 
Sabrina K. Standifer 
Jonathan A. Schlatter 
Trevor C. Wohlford 
Khari E. Taustin* 
Sarah G. Briley 
Grant A. Brazill 
Alex P. Robinson 
Ben K. Carmichael 
Kyler C. Wineinger 
Jackson C. Ely 
8 

Of Counsel 
John W. Johnson 
C. Michael Lennen 
Thomas E. Wright 
John J. Ambrosio 
Glenda L. Cafer 
H. Hurst Coffman 
Jeffrey A. Wietharn 
 
 
 
 
*Resident & Licensed in FL 
◊ Licensed only in IL & MI 
 

Exhibit D - 1

Page 25

mailto:Mock@southhutch.com


March 8, 2022 
Page 2 

 

Mr. Turner that Matt Mock had said the location for the Harmoni tower is already 

zoned for towers so the matter should be able to go straight to the Commission.  

 

9/21/21 By email, Mr. Turner referred Ms. Marlin to Matt Mock and said Matt could 

provide her with the information she needs. 

 

9/22/21 Ms. Marlin sent an email to Mr. Mock and Mr. Turner setting out certain CUP 

provisions in the Code and stating that Mr. Mock had advised her these items would 

be waived due to the SBA tower already being installed a half mile away. She asked 

Mr. Mock to confirm that this was accurate. 

 

9/30/21 Mr. Mock emailed Ms. Marlin stating that her understanding is correct, and 

someone should get hold of him to get approval from the Commission and then the 

City Council (Council). 

 

 Ms. Marlin asked what Mr. Mock needed from her at this point, specifically 

mentioning a standard application or fees and whether there would be a public 

hearing. 

 

 Mr. Mock responded that “there’s no application or fee” and that he’d put the matter 

on the agenda and for her “just to have maybe a map of the area and some info on 

what the tower is going to be used for.” 

 

11/15/22 Ms. Marlin’s replacement, Mike Nuckols, emailed Mr. Mock asking (1) if Ms. 

Marlin had emailed him the Zoning Drawings, to which Mr. Mock answered yes, 

(2) if the matter was coming before the Commission on December 13th, to which 

Mr. Mock responded it was, and (3) what else Harmoni might need to submit, to 

which Mr. Mock said, “I think we have everything”. 

 

[The application was later postponed from the December to the January Commission meeting due 

to scheduling conflicts.] 

 

01/11/22  Commission Meeting: 

 

Harmoni’s representatives explained: 

AT&T currently has facilities on existing SBA towers located on property 

near the site proposed for Harmoni’s Project, however, AT&T’s contract 

with SBA is expiring and negotiations between AT&T and SBA have failed 

to result in an acceptable renewal agreement. This is happening in a number 

of locations in Kansas and across the country as SBA has insisted upon 

extremely high rates that continue to escalate each year.  This increases 

costs to customers for cell and broadband service and can threaten AT&T’s 

(and other carriers’) ability to provide efficient and reliable service to an 

area.  As long as SBA is “the only game in town”, SBA has the ability to 

insist upon these excessively high charges. 

 

Exhibit D - 2

Page 26



March 8, 2022 
Page 3 

 

In response to this problem, AT&T has entered into an agreement with 

Harmoni to locate on Harmoni’s towers throughout the state. It is Harmoni’s 

obligation to site and obtain approval of the towers that will compete with 

the existing SBA towers, and that is what Harmoni is pursuing with this 

CUP. 

 

Legal counsel for Harmoni, Glenda Cafer, explained how K.S.A. 66-2019 

and federal law impose substantial limitations on the power of local zoning 

authorities in reviewing or denying cell tower CUPs.  

  

Attorney for SBA, Luke VanFleteren, appeared in opposition to the application.   

 

There was one written public comment received from Mike Smith in opposition.  

Two members of the public in attendance at the meeting said they weren’t really 

sure of their position, but they felt allowing for the competition this tower would 

provide was important as it improves quality of service and price. Another member 

of the public at the meeting who is a retired air traffic controller asked about the 

impact of the tower on the flight paths in the area. Harmoni explained the tower 

had received FCC approval and a copy of that approval was provided to the 

Commission. 

 

The Commission tabled the application until its February 14th meeting so that they 

could let the neighbors weigh in if they wanted.  Ms. Cafer explained how K.S.A. 

66-2019 provides that an application is deemed approved by operation of law if no 

action is taken on it within 150-day deadline.  Although no one at the meeting knew 

the exact date the application was considered submitted, everyone believed 

postponing to February 14th wouldn’t cause a problem with the 150-day deadline.  

 

2/15/22 Mr. Mock sent an email to Mr. Nuckols explaining that the application materials 

had been deleted from his computer and advising that the best way for this to go 

forward is to start all over again with a new application. 

 

 

II. Response to SBA’s Letter 

 

Federal and State laws have been adopted to promote the ability of companies such as Harmoni to 

build towers to ensure customers will have reliable cell and broadband service at reasonable rates. 

These laws are based on legislative determinations that such tower construction is in the public 

interest.  The laws substantially restrict the power of the local zoning authority to deny applications 

or impose onerous or discriminatory conditions upon applicants. 

 

Mr. Edwards’ letter is consistent with his presentation at the January 11, 2022, Commission 

meeting. His arguments regarding the application and impact of K.S.A. 66-2019 are consistent 

with the arguments SBA has made in various local zoning jurisdictions through-out Kansas in 

opposition to the cell tower applications of Harmoni.  His letter does not address any of the Federal 

Exhibit D - 3

Page 27



March 8, 2022 
Page 4 

 

laws applicable to cell tower construction, but I will provide some information about those in 

addition to addressing SBA’s erroneous arguments on Kansas law. 

 

Federal Law 

 

By way of background, federal law limits the authority of local governments to deny applications 

for the construction of wireless towers within their jurisdictions. The Telecommunications Act of 

1996 (the “Federal Act”) provides rights to wireless service providers and establishes limitations 

upon state and local zoning authorities with respect to wireless facility siting applications. Under 

the Federal Act, the county must take action on an application “within a reasonable period of 

time,”1 and denial of an application must be “in writing and supported by substantial evidence 

contained in a written record.”2 Under the Federal Act, state and local governments may not 

unreasonably discriminate among providers of functionally equivalent services,3 and state and 

local governments are prohibited from considering the effects of FCC-compliant radio-frequency 

emissions.4 

 

The Federal Act also prohibits a local government from denying an application for a wireless 

telecommunications facility where doing so would “prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting” the 

carrier from providing wireless telecommunications services.5 The Federal Communications 

Commission (“FCC”) has confirmed that an “effective prohibition” occurs when the decision of a 

local government materially inhibits wireless services.6  If a local government materially inhibits 

a wireless provider’s service, local standards that would otherwise be sufficient to permit denial 

of the application are preempted and the municipality must approve the wireless facility. 

 

State Law - K.S.A. 66-2019 

 

Declaring that deployment of wireless facilities is “critical to ensuring that all citizens of the state 

have true access to broadband and other advanced technology and information,” the Kansas state 

legislature passed legislation, effective October 2016, that streamlines the permitting process for 

deployment of wireless networks and restricts a county’s discretion to deny a wireless provider’s 

application.7 The Kansas legislature stated that “The permitting, construction, modification, 

maintenance and operation of wireless facilities are critical to ensuring that all citizens in the state 

have true access to broadband and other advanced technology and information,”8 and to carry out 

that policy, the Kansas statute places a number of limitations on local zoning authorities, in 

addition to the restrictions imposed by Federal law, including barring such authorities from 

 
1 47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(7)(B)(ii).  
2 47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(7)(B)(iii). 
3 47 U.S.C. §332(c)(7)(B)(i)(I). 
4 47 U.S.C. §332(c)(7)(B)(iv); see also K.S.A. 66-2019(f)(14) (prohibiting an authority from rejecting an 
application “based on perceived or alleged environmental effects of radio frequency emissions or exposure”). 
5 47 U.S.C. §332(c)(7)(B)(i)(II). 
6 See Accelerating Wireless Broadband Deployment by Removing Barriers to Infrastructure Investment, Declaratory 

Ruling and Third Report and Order, FCC 18-133 (September 27, 2018) at ¶¶ 34-42 (FCC rejects the need for wireless 

providers to meet judicially-created coverage gap and least instructive means tests); see also, In the Matter of 

California Payphone Association Petition for Preemption, Etc., Opinion and Order, FCC 97-251, 12 FCC Rcd 14191 

(July 17, 1997). 
7 K.S.A. 66-2019. 
8 K.S.A. 66-2019(a). 

Exhibit D - 4

Page 28



March 8, 2022 
Page 5 

 

requiring an applicant to demonstrate a “need” for a wireless tower or from evaluating an 

application based on the availability of other potential locations for a tower.9   

 

While the city can require Harmoni to state that it has conducted an analysis of available 

collocation opportunities on existing wireless structures, it can do so only for the purpose of 

confirming that Harmoni undertook the analysis. The county cannot require an applicant to further 

document its analysis or explain why existing towers are insufficient. It also cannot dictate what 

reasons are acceptable for rejecting collocation.  This is exactly what SBA is asking you to do and 

it is contrary to the law of Kansas. 

 

A. K.S.A. 66-2019 Applies to Towers Located on Private Property 

  

SBA takes the position that K.S.A. 66-2019 is only applicable to towers on public property. This 

argument is contrary to a plain reading of the statute, is inconsistent with the legislative purpose 

behind adopting the statute and has already been rejected by other local zoning authorities. 

 

SBA asserts that the heading for the statute proves it is intended to apply only to public property 

because it specifically states that it applies to public lands and public right-of-way. The heading of 

a statute is not considered part of the statute.10  But even if it were, the heading of K.S.A. 66-2019 

makes clear it applies to all cell tower applications.  It reads as follows: 

 

Siting of wireless infrastructure; public lands and public right-of-way; wireless providers 

and governing bodies, rights and requirements for application process. 

 

There are four areas the heading informs us the statute addresses: 

 

1. Siting of wireless infrastructure. 

2. Public lands and public right-of-way. 

3. Wireless providers and governing bodies. 

4. Rights and requirements for application process. 

 

The first, third and fourth areas addressed by the statute are not limited in scope by the second 

area. Each is listed individually as a topic addressed by the statute. The statute contains subsections 

(a) through (l), with only subsections (d) and (e) addressing the public right-of-way.  The other ten 

subsections apply to all applications. The heading does not have to say “private property” in order 

for the statute to apply to private property, as SBA argues.   

 

Applying the statute to private property as well as public right-of-way is consistent with the other 

subsections.11  Sections (d) and (e) specifically address issues only relevant to public property and 

 
9 See K.S.A. 66-2019(f). 
10  See Bonanza, Inc. v. Carlson, 269 Kan. 705, 718 (2000), citing to State v. Logan, 198 Kan. 211, 217 (1967) - “The 

introductory heading is not dispositive because the title or caption prefacing the text of a statute is prepared by the 

Revisor of Statutes and forms no part of the statute itself.”  
11 Subsection (a) – the public policy purpose of the statute; subsection (b) – the definitions; subsection (c) – assessment 

of fees and costs for application processing; subsection (f) – restrictions on local zoning authorities imposed “to ensure 

uniformity across the state with respect to consideration of every application”; subsection (g) - consolidation of small 

network applications; subsection (h) - time deadlines for processing applications; subsection (i) - prohibiting 

Exhibit D - 5

Page 29

https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/cases/id/3S12-1XY0-000G-T11W-00000-00?page=836&reporter=3160&cite=184%20Kan.%20830&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/cases/id/3S12-1XY0-000G-T11W-00000-00?page=836&reporter=3160&cite=184%20Kan.%20830&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/cases/id/3S12-1XY0-000G-T11W-00000-00?page=836&reporter=3160&cite=184%20Kan.%20830&context=1000516


March 8, 2022 
Page 6 

 

public authorities. The fact that certain sections of the statute are specifically addressing cell tower 

applications on public property does not serve to limit the other ten subsections of the statute.  SBA 

tries to read into the statute limiting language that does not exist.12   

 

If the legislature intended to exempt cell tower applications on private property from the 

application of K.S.A. 66-2019, it would have said so in the statute.  In fact, it did exactly that in 

subsection (k) for military installations, where it states, “Nothing in this section shall be construed 

to apply to military installations.”  The legislature did not include such an exemption for privately 

owned property. 

 

SBA asserts that the legislative history on K.S.A. 66-2019 indicates that the legislature didn’t 

intend for the statute to apply to private property.  First, turning to legislative history is only 

appropriate if a plain reading of a statute yields an ambiguity or a lack of clarity, thus necessitating 

application of the rules of statutory construction to resolve the ambiguity. Higgins v. Abilene 

Mach., Inc., 288 Kan. 359, 362 (2009). There is no such ambiguity here.  K.S.A. 66-2019 is clear 

in its application to private property, as evidenced by the fragility of the assertions made by SBA 

in an attempt to argue otherwise. It is not necessary to fumble around in legislative history and 

speculate as SBA has done here. 

 

That said, neither the Bill Summary prepared by the Legislative Research Department nor the 

testimony on the Bill supports SBA’s position. A Bill Summary gives the legislature a high-level 

overview of the legislation being proposed and, like the statute itself, does not need to specifically 

say it applies to private property. The Bill Summary says the purpose is “to ensure uniformity 

across the state with respect to consideration of every application…”  It is very clear the intent is 

not to limit the statute’s application to only public right-of-way.  

 

Further, the statement in the Bill Summary that says the statute “requires the authority to consider 

input from property owners adjoining the affected public right-of-way” doesn’t mean the law is 

only applicable to public right-of-way.  It’s just saying that when the public authority owns the 

land for the tower, it still has to get public input. 

 

Similarly, the Bill Summary’s explanation about the Bill giving the wireless provider the right to 

access the public right-of-way should not be interpreted to grant any right to construct, maintain, 

or operate wireless services on property owned by the authority outside the public right-of-way 

does not restrict the statute to only public right-of-way applications.  This just gives the tower 

owner the right to construct on public right-of-way; it doesn’t grant a right to construct on private 

land (like it does on public right-of-way) because that’s a decision left to the private landowner.  

But if a landowner and tower company negotiate a contract for a cell tower, the law applies to the 

application for that tower.  

 

 
authorities from instituting moratoriums on applications; subsection (j) - retention of other zoning authority not 

inconsistent with the limitations imposed by the statute; subsection (k) – excluding military installations from the 

provisions of the statute; and subsection (l) - setting the statute’s effective date.  
12 Appellate courts will not speculate about legislative intent or read a statute in a manner that adds something not 

readily contained within it.” Redd v. Kan. Truck Ctr., 291 Kan. 176 (2010).  

Exhibit D - 6

Page 30

https://advance.lexis.com/document/documentlink/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=3fb3f994-2dfa-4ab6-8573-e2918c441a14&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fcases%2Furn%3AcontentItem%3A4VYP-1BC0-TXFT-039G-00000-00&pdpinpoint=PAGE_361_3160&pdcontentcomponentid=6805&pddoctitle=Higgins+v.+Abilene+Machine%2C+Inc.%2C+288+Kan.+359%2C+361%2C+204+P.3d+1156+(2009)&pdproductcontenttypeid=urn%3Apct%3A30&pdiskwicview=false&ecomp=ss9nk&prid=50f08455-d329-47ab-bbe3-c8f55342d68b
https://advance.lexis.com/document/documentlink/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=3fb3f994-2dfa-4ab6-8573-e2918c441a14&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fcases%2Furn%3AcontentItem%3A4VYP-1BC0-TXFT-039G-00000-00&pdpinpoint=PAGE_361_3160&pdcontentcomponentid=6805&pddoctitle=Higgins+v.+Abilene+Machine%2C+Inc.%2C+288+Kan.+359%2C+361%2C+204+P.3d+1156+(2009)&pdproductcontenttypeid=urn%3Apct%3A30&pdiskwicview=false&ecomp=ss9nk&prid=50f08455-d329-47ab-bbe3-c8f55342d68b
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/cases/id/5108-X711-652K-V000-00000-00?page=188&reporter=3160&cite=291%20Kan.%20176&context=1000516


March 8, 2022 
Page 7 

 

The wireless carriers’ testimony on the Bill also doesn’t support SBA’s position. The testimony is 

not inconsistent with the statute applying to applications on private property. Those testifying 

carriers did not claim the local authority retains all its zoning power; they correctly stated the local 

authority retains its power “consistent with state and federal law”.  That’s exactly what the statute 

says.  Furthermore, assuming the League of Municipalities would have commented in a particular 

way if the statute applied to private land or imputing to them an understanding of the Bill based 

on the assumption of how they would comment, is meaningless.   

 

SBA also argues that applying the limiting provisions of subsection (f) of the statute to private 

property will cause it to conflict with subsection (j) which reserves to the local zoning authority 

the right to continue to exercise its zoning, land use, planning and permitting authority.  But SBA 

ignores the qualifying words in the first part of subsection (j) which state, “Subject to the provisions 

of this section and applicable federal law, …”  K.S.A. 66-2019 substantially limits the authority 

of the local zoning authority, as does the federal law, but they do not take all such authority away.  

Subsection (j) makes clear that the local zoning authority retains some power in those remaining 

areas. SBA admits as much in its letter, where it states that applying subsection (f) to private 

property “would strip local zoning authorities of nearly all their power, and it “completely strips 

local governments of the vast majority of their authority”.  There is no conflict between subsections 

(f) and (j) if the statute is applied to private property.13   

 

SBA is correct that K.S.A. 66-2019 has not yet been interpreted by the courts of Kansas.  But the 

most fundamental rule of statutory construction is that "the legislature's intent governs if [it] can 

be ascertained."  Higgins at 361. “The first step is to ascertain legislative intent through the 

language employed, giving ordinary words their ordinary meaning. Higgins at 361-62. “When 

a statute is plain and unambiguous, this court must give effect to the statute's express language, 

instead of determining what the law should or should not be. Appellate courts will not speculate 

about legislative intent or read a statute in a manner that adds something not readily contained 

within it.” Redd v. Kan. Truck Ctr., 291 Kan. 176 (2010).  

 

The language of K.S.A. 66-2019 is not ambiguous. The language of the statute does not limit its 

application to only public property.  The purpose of the statute is clearly stated; it is to “ensure 

uniformity across the state with respect to consideration of every application, …” The language of 

the statute expresses the legislature’s intent.  Employing additional statutory construction to reach 

a different conclusion, as SBA has done, is inappropriate.    

   

B. SBA’s Arguments for Denial of the Application Violate the Law  

 

SBA argues that Harmoni’s application should be denied because it won’t noticeably improve 

coverage in the area compared to what SBA is providing. This is an example of exactly what 

K.S.A. 66-2019(f) and federal law are seeking to prohibit – competitors like SBA obstructing cell 

 
13 Furthermore, Courts must consider various provisions of an act in pari materia to reconcile and bring the provisions 

into workable harmony if possible. State v. Breedlove, 285 Kan. 1006, 1015 (2008).  Although there is no conflict in 

K.S.A. 66-2019, when there is two potential interpretations of a statute, the court is required to adopt the interpretation 

that resolves the conflict, not the one that perpetuates it.  

 

Exhibit D - 7

Page 31

https://advance.lexis.com/document/documentlink/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=3fb3f994-2dfa-4ab6-8573-e2918c441a14&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fcases%2Furn%3AcontentItem%3A4VYP-1BC0-TXFT-039G-00000-00&pdpinpoint=PAGE_361_3160&pdcontentcomponentid=6805&pddoctitle=Higgins+v.+Abilene+Machine%2C+Inc.%2C+288+Kan.+359%2C+361%2C+204+P.3d+1156+(2009)&pdproductcontenttypeid=urn%3Apct%3A30&pdiskwicview=false&ecomp=ss9nk&prid=50f08455-d329-47ab-bbe3-c8f55342d68b
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/cases/id/5108-X711-652K-V000-00000-00?page=188&reporter=3160&cite=291%20Kan.%20176&context=1000516


March 8, 2022 
Page 8 

 

tower applications to retain their business advantage to the detriment of expansion and 

improvement of the wireless network in Kansas.  

 

Harmoni selected the proposed location in South Hutchinson as the best available and least 

intrusive means to provide the infrastructure needed in this case. K.S.A. 66-2019(f) restricts, 

among other things, the Commission from (1) requiring an applicant to submit information about 

its business decisions, (2) evaluating a cell tower application based on the availability of other 

potential locations for placement, or (3) requiring information be submitted concerning the need 

for the structure. SBA is arguing the city should perform this prohibited analysis and then deny 

the application based upon the availability of SBA’s tower.  This is a clear violation of K.S.A 66-

2019. 

 

The Federal Act also prohibits a local government from denying an application for a wireless 

telecommunications facility when doing so would prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting the 

carrier from providing wireless telecommunications services. Denial of Harmoni’s application in 

this case would materially inhibit Harmoni and AT&T’s ability to provide their wireless services.  

For AT&T, this includes providing FirstNet service in Kansas for emergency agencies.   

 

Additionally, under the Federal Act and under K.S.A. 66-2019, the local zoning authority cannot 

unreasonably discriminate among providers of functionally equivalent services14, and granting 

SBA the right to locate its tower in the area while denying Harmoni the same ability constitutes 

unreasonable discrimination.  

 

While federal and state law have imposed limitations on the authority of local zoning jurisdictions 

for cell tower applications, Harmoni recognizes that the city may continue to exercise zoning, land 

use, planning and permitting authority considering factors such as those set out in Golden v. City 

of Overland Park, 224 Kan. 591 (1978) to the extent such factors are not inconsistent with 

restrictions imposed by the Federal Act and K.S.A. 66-2019. The arguments made by SBA for 

denying Harmoni’s application are inconsistent with the restrictions imposed by federal and state 

law. 

 

C. Harmoni Has Complied with the City’s Rules 

  

SBA asserts that, even if K.S.A. 66-2019 applies to private property, Harmoni’s CUP cannot be 

approved because (1) Harmoni did not file an application in conformance with Section 27-104(24) 

of South Hutchinson’s zoning code, and (2) Harmoni did not provide a statement on the proposed 

use as required by Section 27-101. Neither of these assertions is accurate. 

 

The city is the authority that determines whether the information an applicant has provided is 

sufficient to meet its requirements and allow the processing of an application.  Harmoni worked 

diligently with the city to provide detail about the project - including an explanation of its proposed 

use - sufficient to meet the city’s standards under Section 27-101, et. seq. Harmoni’s submittals 

addressed the information needed for an application and development plan under the code as 

applicable to a cell tower project like Harmoni’s. 

 

 
14 47 U.S.C. §332(c)(7)(B)(i)(I). 

Exhibit D - 8

Page 32



March 8, 2022 
Page 9 

 

The correspondence between the city and Harmoni shows that the last item of information the city 

requested from Harmoni was submitted on November 12, 2021.  Section 20-102 states that the 

development plan is to be submitted with the application and that “no application shall be deemed 

complete nor set for public hearing until said development plan is submitted”. The city set 

Harmoni’s application for hearing on December 13, 2021, sending out notices required by the 

Code prior to hearing, so the city clearly deemed the application to be complete at least as early as 

November 22, 2021 (20 days before the hearing).  [Section 34-102.]  

 

SBA also argues that the CUP cannot be approved because the setback for the proposed tower is 

not “equal distance from all property lines as it is in height” as provided for under Section 27-

104(24)(A) of the code. This question came up during the Commission meeting. Harmoni 

explained that the lay out of the land would not allow for a bigger set back, but that engineering 

standards for the tower would allow it to withstand anything up to an actual tornado. The 

documentation on those standards has been provided by Harmoni to the Commission. 

 

Denying a cell tower application for this reason appears to run afoul of the limitations imposed on 

the local zoning authority under state and federal law. Considering the engineering standards for 

the tower and its proposed location within the property lines, there is no reasonable basis to impose 

an equal distance set-back, especially where the location needed for the tower is physically unable 

to accommodate this parameter. Denying the application for this reason would unnecessarily 

prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting Harmoni and AT&T from providing services or would 

materially inhibit such services. 

 

Also, Section 27-104(24) applies to structures 50 feet or more in height.  There is a question as to 

whether the city has consistently imposed this requirement on other CUP applicants, including 

SBA.  Under the Federal Act and the state statute, local zoning authorities may not unreasonably 

discriminate among providers of functionally equivalent services.15 

 

D. The 150-Day Deadline was Triggered and is Running 

 

In your February 15th email to Mike Nuckols, you stated that the information Harmoni submitted 

on its CUP request had been deleted from the city’s computers so the best way for this to go 

forward is for Harmoni to start all over again with a new application. Since a valid application was 

submitted by Harmoni and accepted by the city, Harmoni believes the 150-day timeline imposed 

under K.S.A. 66-2019 continues to run on the initial application. Using November 22, 2021, as the 

latest filing date possible, the 150 days would run on or about April 21, 2022.  If the city’s 

governing body has not acted on the application by that date, Harmoni believes the application 

must be deemed approved pursuant to K.S.A. 66-2019(h)(3).     

 

 

 

 

 
15 K.S.A. 66-2019(h)(1)(C) – “If an authority denies an application, there must be a reasonable basis for the denial.  

An authority may not deny an application if such denial discriminates against the applicant with respect to the 

placement of the facilities of other investor-owned utilities, wireless service providers, wireless infrastructure 

providers or wireless carriers.” 

Exhibit D - 9

Page 33



March 8, 2022 
Page 10 

 

 

III. Request for Action 

 

Harmoni respectfully requests that a copy of this letter be provided to the members of the South 

Hutchinson Planning Commission, and that the Commission move forward on Harmoni’s CUP 

application at its next meeting on March 14, 2022. 

 

Please let me know if you have any additional questions about the matter. 

 

 

Very truly yours,  

 

Glenda Cafer 

Glenda Cafer 

Attorney for Harmoni Towers 

 

 

 

cc: Stanley Juhnke 

South Hutchinson City Attorney 

via email to the city clerk: denisem@southhutch.com 

 

 

Joseph Turner 

City Administrator of South Hutchinson, KS 

via email: josepht@southhutch.com 

 

Exhibit D - 10

Page 34

mailto:denisem@southhutch.com
mailto:josepht@southhutch.com


 

 
 

800 S.W. Jackson Street, Suite 1310  •  Topeka, KS 66612 

Tel: 785.232.2662  •  Fax: 785.232.9983  •  www.MorrisLaing.com 

Wichita, KS  •  Topeka, KS  •  West Palm Beach, FL  •  Chicago, IL   

   

  Sender’s email: gcafer@morrislaing.com  
    Direct Phone: (785)430-2003  
    Direct Fax: (785)232-9983   
 

 
April 25, 2022 

 

 

 

Joseph Turner 

City Administrator  

City of South Hutchinson 

2 Main St. 

South Hutchinson, KS 67505 

via email to: josepht@southhutch.com 

 

Re: Harmoni Towers Conditional Use Permit (CUP) No. 2022-01 

South Hutchinson, Kansas 

  

 

Dear Mr. Turner: 

 

Thank you for giving me the opportunity to provide some additional information to the South 

Hutchinson City Council on the above referenced CUP application of my client, Harmoni Towers.  

I’ve previously submitted a letter to Matt Mock dated March 8, 2022. I understand that 

correspondence is in the official record so I will try to avoid repeating myself in this letter. 

 

I attended the Planning Commission’s meeting on April 11, 2022, at which a few questions arose 

that I want to provide some additional information on for the City Council’s consideration at its 

meeting on May 2, 2022.  

 

Once question concerned the FAA’s report and approval of the proposed tower obtained by 

Harmoni prior to filing the application. I provided the FAA report to you last week so will not 

include another copy with this letter. Please include the FAA letter in the record presented to the 

Council. 

 

There was discussion at the meeting about the benefits to South Hutchinson of approving the 

Harmoni tower in light of the existence of the SBA tower.  I must reiterate that the Kansas statute 

Robert I. Guenthner 
A.J. Schwartz 
Jeffery L. Carmichael 
Robert W. Coykendall 
Robert K. Anderson 
Karl R. Swartz 
Roger L. Theis 
Diane H. Sorensen 
Janet Huck Ward 
Roger N. Walter 
S. Lucky DeFries 
James D. Young 
Kimberly K. Bonifas 
Cameron V. Michaud 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Ryan M. Peck 
Shannon M. Braun 
Will B. Wohlford 
Danielle J. Carter◊ 
Sabrina K. Standifer 
Jonathan A. Schlatter 
Trevor C. Wohlford 
Khari E. Taustin* 
Sarah G. Briley 
Grant A. Brazill 
Alex P. Robinson 
Ben K. Carmichael 
Kyler C. Wineinger 
Jackson C. Ely 
 

Of Counsel 
John W. Johnson 
C. Michael Lennen 
Thomas E. Wright 
John J. Ambrosio 
Glenda L. Cafer 
H. Hurst Coffman 
Jeffrey A. Wietharn 
 
 
 
 
*Resident & Licensed in FL 
◊ Licensed only in IL & MI 
 

Exhibit D - 11

Page 35

mailto:josepht@southhutch.com


April 26, 2022 
Page 2 

 

enacted in 20161 does not permit denial on the basis of the potential to locate on an existing 

structure. But in an attempt to assist the Council in its deliberations, and since the existing tower 

owner, SBA, has argued there is no such benefit, I’m providing the following list of benefits:    

 

1. SBA’s price-gouging affects the capital budgets of providers by diverting resources, which 

are reduced and can prevent equipment upgrades and Network expansion. 

 

2. SBA wastes time and dollars due to amending the lease every time a provider wants to 

modify (ever changing) equipment. 

 

3. Harmoni’s tower is much further away from homes (0.45 mile vs. 620’) & businesses 

(1,486’ vs. 265’) than the SBA tower. 

 

4. Harmoni doesn’t know the condition of the SBA tower (built by Horvath 14 years ago) but 

Harmoni’s would be brand new with up-to-date construction and technology. 

 

5. Right now, SBA is the only game in town for AT&T and other providers.  The Harmoni 

tower injects competition into the market and market-based competition benefits 

consumers. The two community residents who attended the Board’s meeting agreed that 

competition is a benefit.  Time delays/fees inhibiting the provider’s use of the SBA tower 

don’t happen on the Harmoni Tower. As such, South Hutchinson can obtain upgraded 

wireless service faster and more often.  This increases public safety as 85%+ of E-911 calls 

are from cell phones - FirstNet is the AT&T nationwide high-speed wireless broadband 

network dedicated to public safety.  It allows first responders, emergency personnel and 

other essential workers to communicate during an emergency situation and it is designed 

to cut through the clutter of commercial traffic. 

  

6. South Hutchinson may not be getting the best and newest equipment on the SBA tower. But 

the Harmoni tower gives AT&T “Superior Functionality” (aka speed and flexibility to 

address coverage and capacity issues). 

  

7. Cost-effective operation of AT&T and other providers benefits everybody.  Technology is 

ever-changing.  Time is of the essence. 

  

8. Other carriers like VZW, Sprint-T-Mobile, Dish, etc. that operate in this area, may want 

the same benefits of being on the Harmoni tower.  This Harmoni tower may also improve 

other carrier’s ability to upgrade/expand their networks in South Hutchinson. 

 

Another question that arose at the meeting concerned the restrictions imposed by the Federal 

Telecommunications Act of 1996 (“FTA”).  As I explained at the meeting, the FTA prohibits the 

City from denying Harmoni’s application where doing so would “prohibit or have the effect of 

prohibiting the provision of personal wireless services.”2 The FCC has ruled that an effective 

prohibition in violation of the Act “includes materially inhibiting additional services or improving 

 
1 K.S.A. 66-2019. 
2 47 U.S.C. §332 (c)(7)(B)(i)(II). 

Exhibit D - 12

Page 36



April 26, 2022 
Page 3 

 

existing services.”3 This analysis “focuses on the service the provider wishes to provide, 

incorporating the capabilities and performance characteristics it wishes to employ, including 

facilities deployment to provide existing services more robustly, or at a better level of quality, all 

to offer a more robust and competitive wireless service for the benefit of the public.”4  

 

Denying Harmoni’s application in this case would materially inhibit the provisioning of additional 

services and the improvement of existing services, losing the benefits to consumers as outlined 

above.  In my opinion, denial of the CUP on the basis of something like aesthetics and/or setback 

rules is directly in conflict with the FTA. As Harmoni’s representative, Mr. Mike Nuckols, 

explained at the meeting, the tower is engineered so that it will withstand substantial wind 

conditions.  In the unlikely event that the tower would fall, it is designed to collapse within its own 

area. Thus, the public safety concerns underlying the setback rules don’t exist. 

 

In addition to restrictions on the City’s ability to materially inhibit the provisioning of wireless 

tower services, both the FTA and the state statute prohibit a local zoning authority from 

discriminating against a cell tower applicant in relation to how other similar applicants have been 

treated.  My understanding is that South Hutchinson has waived the 1X Tower Height setback on 

many other applications, including but not limited to: 

  

• SBA 340’ GWT (existing site; built ‘08) is 110’, 206’, 243’ and 333’ from property lines 

• Alltel 115’ MP (1,000’ S. of City Hall; built ‘11) is 24’ and 43’ from property lines 

• VB 300’ GWT (.46 mile SW of existing site; built ’18) is 204’ from a property line.  

 

Thank you for providing this correspondence to the City Council for consideration at its May 2, 

2022, meeting.  Please let me know if you have any additional questions about the matter. 

 

 

Very truly yours,  

 

Glenda Cafer 

Glenda Cafer 

Attorney for Harmoni Towers 

 

 

 

 

 
3 FCC Declaratory Ruling and Third Report and Order, Sept. 26, 2018, WT Dkt. No. 17-79, ¶37. 
4 Id.at ¶40 n.95. 

Exhibit D - 13

Page 37



��������	
������
��
��
�
���������������������������������
����
����������	
������	��������������������� ! ! �"�����������#��$�����%����&�'()* )) �
�������	�������$�+�,-!- .���.//0*.������������$�+�,-!- .���.)/1 .��

��
� ����0

2���
��3��
4� !56 5-!- ����
����������������������
������������7�8�6* �
���#
$&��291))!::�;<=<>?@AB=@CA�CD�AC�EBFB>;�=C�B@>�ABG@HB=@CA�::'�
��
�
��������������������������������	����	�
������
�������	�������$����
����
���������������91�I,�,�,&�
	�����99) /�������������	���
�'���
� 9������
����
�����
�
�����
��������&������))&�	��	
����4����	���
4 ���
����'��
�������
�������
�� J�	�����4 "��	������&�K�J������
4 6).0/.6!,1!+�+�3�/6J������
4 1).0*. 6,!!%"
����4  069��

�����
�
�
�������L��M60!��

������
��������
�
��L��JM //9��

������
��
����
���
�
��L���JM'�����
�������	�������$��
�
��
���������
�����	���
���
������
8	

��������	������������������������������
����N���������������������������
����
����������	��������L�M&������$&���L��
M��
�4�����	�����������������3
�
���������&���
�����	���
��������
����#
�5����
������		�����	
�����������������$	��	�����)!5)9*!. ��&�������	��������#�������J�����&����
�.������$��
�.�����
���9&/L�.3���M&O 0,��$�������
����������	�������������������
�����������$�L6!M������
���������
	�������������������������������	��������&��
����
������������������&���������
��
����
�����
����
�$����L/))M�9/).*/*)������+���	
��������
�L+�'��M�	����
�����
�,��������������
����������
�����������
����
�&������$���
����
�����
�,2������
P���
����������������)9*!.-&�+���	
�����	������������	�����������
������&��
�
.���
����$����
���
���Q
	������������
����4RRRRR�����
���� !���$��������������������	������	�����L)9*!.-&������ MRR(RR�%������0���$�����
����
�	������	������
�	�
�������
��
����
����L)9*!.-&������-M'�����
�
����������
8���
�����!05! 5-!-6����
��4L�M ��
�	������	�������������
��L�����
	
������$�	����
�
�M��������������)9*!.-&�+���	
�����	�����������	�����������
������&�����
	
��
���$����������	
,L�M 
8�
��
�&��
���
�&�����
������
���$���
������������	
,L	M ��
�	������	�����������Q
	�������
���	
�������������$������
��
�
�����������	�����������������L���M�������������	������������	������	������
����������

�����
�&�����
P���
���$���
����&�������

Exhibit D - 14

Page 38



����������	


���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� !"#�$"%&"'!�� $�"(!"�'� �� ��!)"�"��"�!�*"��"$� +� ��!)�'�+"!"$,��-!� ��,&'!."�"/��0"+�-!�0"-'!�1	�+-2'��$� $�! �!)"�"(��$-!� ��+-!"��-�!"$�$"/"*-0&-!� � ���&$$"�!� �"$-!� �'����!)"�-$"-� ��!)"�'!$&�!&$"�! �+"!"$,��"�!)-!�� '�3�����-�!�-"$ �-&!��-0��)-�3"'�)-*"� ��&$$"+��2 &$�+"!"$,��-!� ��,-2�.""0�3�.0"�� $� �"�"(!"�'� �� ��!)"�"��"�!�*"��"$� +�!�������������������������������������������������������������4���������������������������������������������5�����6���7�������4����-�����������������������������������������5���������������������������4�����������������5�����������������������������*�������������������8�-������'�������/0������8�*��������.������������������9���1���9��::;��4����9���������������������-���������������������������������������������������������������4���������������������������������������5��������������������������--�!�������������������������������9����������������5��������������4�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������--�4�����	�������������������������������������������������������������!��������������������������������������������������5�����������������������������<��������4�������������������������������������������������������)�4�9���������5���������������������������9���������������������������9���"5�������4������������������������������������������������5�������������������������--�!����������������������������������������������������������������������������������9�������������������������������������������9�����������������������������������������������������������4�����������������������������������������'���������������9������������-�������������������������4����������4��������������������������������������������6���7�������������������������=�������������������������������4��������������������������������������������������������6>1
7�?�@/�	:>�����9�����4��A������9�� ��������������������������������������������������������������-�����������'������������:�1/-�"/>>	
/ "�BCDEFGHIJ�KLEGILM�NLO�PQRSRPRTUVPQQWXYPTW 6�+�"�7*���'�4��'��������-������6�7���5������+��,��6�7��#����

Exhibit D - 15

Page 39



����������	


������������������������������  !"�#�$#%
&�'(���) *+,*
&�'(���) 
&�'(���)(�+- �&. �&.(�+-/ 0 123 		 456/ 0 123 78 4569: 99;0 123 		 4569: 99;0 123 78 45690;0 9<;0 123 		 45690;0 9<;0 123 78 45689;8 8�;/ 123 		 45689;8 8�;/ 123 78 456/97 /<= >23 9::: 6/97 /<= >23 8::: 6/<= =:/ >23 9::: 6=:/ <:9 >23 	:: 6=:/ =87 >23 	:: 6=87 =7< >23 	:: 6=	9 =// >23 	:: 6=/< =<7 >23 	:: 6=</ <:9 >23 	:: 6<:9 <:8 >23 0 6<8< <�8 >23 �	:: 6<�: <�9 >23 �	:: 6<�9 <�8 >23 �	:: 6<�8 <�8;	 >23 90 456<�	 <7: >23 9::: 6<7: <79 >23 �	:: 69/0: 9/0	 >23 	:: 6909: 90		 >23 	:: 69=	: 9<9: >23 9/7: 69=	: 9<<: >23 9/7: 69<�: 9<<: >23 9/7: 69<<: 8:8	 >23 	:: 6899: 88:: >23 	:: 68�:	 8�/: >23 8::: 68�:	 8�9: >23 8::: 68�7	 8�/: >23 8::: 687</ 8/<: >23 	:: 6

Exhibit D - 16

Page 40



����������	


������������������������������� Exhibit D - 17

Page 41



�����������

	
����������������	�������������� �!� Exhibit D - 18

Page 42



Exhibit E - 1

Page 43



Exhibit E - 2

Page 44



Exhibit E - 3

Page 45



Exhibit E - 4

Page 46



Exhibit E - 5

Page 47



Exhibit E - 6

Page 48



Exhibit E - 7

Page 49



Exhibit E - 8

Page 50



Exhibit E - 9

Page 51



Exhibit E - 10

Page 52



Exhibit E - 11

Page 53



Luke R. VanFleteren 
DIRECT: 316.268.7985 

Luke.vanfleteren@stinson.com 

 

1625 N. Waterfront Parkway, Suite 300, Wichita, KS 67206 

 
 

CORE/3521750.0006/173839792.2 

April 29, 2022           Sent via Email 
 
 
Matt Mock, Code Enforcement 
mock@southhutch.com 
 
Joseph Turner, City Administrator 
josepht@southhutch.com  
 
Re: Factors that May Be Considered Regarding Harmoni's Special Use Permit Application 

Dear Mr. Mock and Mr. Turner, 

I am writing to address a few statements made at the South Hutchinson Planning Commission 
meeting on April 11, 2022. At that meeting, one Commission member indicated it may be helpful to have 
more information regarding the interaction between federal law and the City's zoning requirements, and this 
letter addresses those issues. It is my understanding that the City has not retained an attorney for purposes 
of this matter. However, if an attorney is retained or consulted, I ask that you provide this letter to that 
person. 

The City of South Hutchinson's Land Development Code requires conditional use permits for 
"[r]adio or television broadcasting towers and/or stations, microwave transmitting and/or receiving towers 
and/or stations, or any tower or other similar structure 50 feet or more in height; whether publicly or 
privately owned." South Hutchinson Code, 27-104(24). These towers (or similar structures 50 feet or more 
in height) must be located "such that [they are] at least an equal distance from all property lines as it is in 
height." South Hutchinson Code, 27-104(24)(A). At the April 11, 2022 Planning Commission meeting, I 
explained how this 1:1 setback requirement is not optional, and the proposed Harmoni tower ("the Proposed 

Tower") does not meet the Code's setback requirements. Specifically, the proposed 340-foot tower1 is 
designed to sit only 162.2 feet from the east property line and only 260.6 feet from the south right of way 
line. Accordingly, as designed and proposed to the Planning Commission meeting, the Proposed Tower does 
not comply with the Code's clear setback requirements. 

In response to this, Harmoni asserted that the South Hutchinson Code's requirement violates federal 
law. This is not true.  

The Federal Telecommunications Act Does Not Override South Hutchinson's Code 

Requirements 

There are two provisions of the Federal Telecommunications Act ("FTCA") which are relevant to the 

issues before the City. The first such provision – Section 253, titled "Removal of barriers to entry" – provides: 

(a) In general. No State or local statute or regulation, or other State or local legal 

requirement, may prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting the ability of any entity to 

provide any interstate or intrastate telecommunications service. 

                                                             
1 We received two sets of design drawings in the Harmoni application materials. One set, stamped by an 
engineer on 12/20/21, describes a 340-foot tower, while the other set (described as "preliminary") 
proposes a 338-foot tower. 

Exhibit E - 12

Page 54

mailto:mock@southhutch.com
mailto:josepht@southhutch.com


Matt Mock and Joseph Turner 
April 29, 2022 
Page 2 

 

1625 N. Waterfront Parkway, Suite 300, Wichita, KS 67206 

 
 

CORE/3521750.0006/173839792.2 

(b) State regulatory authority. Nothing in this section shall affect the ability of a State to 

impose, on a competitively neutral basis and consistent with section 254 [47 USCS § 254], 

requirements necessary to preserve and advance universal service, protect the public safety 

and welfare, ensure the continued quality of telecommunications services, and safeguard 

the rights of consumers. 

(c) State and local government authority. Nothing in this section affects the authority of a 

State or local government to manage the public rights-of-way or to require fair and 

reasonable compensation from telecommunications providers, on a competitively neutral 

and nondiscriminatory basis, for use of public rights-of-way on a nondiscriminatory basis, 

if the compensation required is publicly disclosed by such government. 

. . .  

 

47 U.S.C. § 253(a)-(c) (emphasis added). There is nothing in Section 253 that invalidates or otherwise 

precludes the City's setback requirements. Section 253 provides that the state or local body may not prohibit 

or have the effect of prohibiting the ability of any entity to provide any interstate or intrastate 

telecommunications service. However, the federal law does not prohibit states or localities from imposing 

setback requirements for the siting of tower. Here, the denial of the CUP Application for a new cell tower will 

not prohibit anyone from providing telecommunications service in the area. To the contrary, SBA currently 

operates a cell tower 1/3 mile away from the Proposed Tower.2  AT&T is a current tenant on the existing SBA 

tower, and AT&T's antennas and other equipment are already mounted on the existing SBA tower.  

Additionally, the existing SBA tower has space and capacity available for new and additional wireless carriers 

and equipment.  Allowing the Applicants' Proposed Tower to be built will not improve existing service in the 

area and is not necessary to bring in new carriers to the area.  For this very reason, the denial of the CUP 

Application based on the enforcement of the City's setback requirement also would not prohibit any entity 

from providing telecommunications services to the area under Section 253. 

The second provision of the FTCA that is relevant to the issues before the City is Section 332, and 

this Section explicitly states that local authorities are permitted to maintain their zoning authority with 

respect to placement and construction of wireless services facilities, subject to limited conditions. Section 

332(7) provides: 

§ 332. Mobile services 

. . .  

(7) Preservation of local zoning authority. 

(A) General authority. Except as provided in this paragraph, nothing in this Act shall 

limit or affect the authority of a State or local government or instrumentality thereof 

                                                             
2 In fact, there also is another existing tower that is owned and operated by another tower infrastructure 
company that is located less than ½ mile to the southwest of the existing SBA tower.  Thus, the threat of 
the proliferation of towers in this area is very real.  

Exhibit E - 13

Page 55



Matt Mock and Joseph Turner 
April 29, 2022 
Page 3 

 

1625 N. Waterfront Parkway, Suite 300, Wichita, KS 67206 

 
 

CORE/3521750.0006/173839792.2 

over decisions regarding the placement, construction, and modification of personal 

wireless service facilities. 

(B) Limitations. 

(i) The regulation of the placement, construction, and modification of personal 

wireless service facilities by any State or local government or instrumentality 

thereof— 

(I) shall not unreasonably discriminate among providers of functionally 

equivalent services; and 

(II) shall not prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting the provision of personal 

wireless services. 

(ii) A State or local government or instrumentality thereof shall act on any request 

for authorization to place, construct, or modify personal wireless service facilities 

within a reasonable period of time after the request is duly filed with such 

government or instrumentality, taking into account the nature and scope of such 

request. 

(iii) Any decision by a State or local government or instrumentality thereof to deny 

a request to place, construct, or modify personal wireless service facilities shall be 

in writing and supported by substantial evidence contained in a written record. 

(iv) No State or local government or instrumentality thereof may regulate the 

placement, construction, and modification of personal wireless service facilities on 

the basis of the environmental effects of radio frequency emissions to the extent 

that such facilities comply with the Commission’s regulations concerning such 

emissions. 

(v) Any person adversely affected by any final action or failure to act by a State or 

local government or any instrumentality thereof that is inconsistent with this 

subparagraph may, within 30 days after such action or failure to act, commence an 

action in any court of competent jurisdiction. The court shall hear and decide such 

action on an expedited basis. Any person adversely affected by an act or failure to 

act by a State or local government or any instrumentality thereof that is inconsistent 

with clause (iv) may petition the Commission for relief. 

47 U.S.C. § 332 (emphasis added).  Section 332 of the FTCA makes clear that the Act is not intended to limit 

or affect the authority of local governments to control zoning, except for certain specifically spelled-out 

situations. The TCA does not permit local governments to discriminate among providers or prohibit 

provision of wireless services, neither of which are being done by applying the City's setback requirements 

as detailed in the South Hutchinson Code. AT&T is the only carrier who would be sited on the Applicants' 

proposed tower, and denial of the Applicants' use permit would not prohibit AT&T from providing wireless 

Exhibit E - 14

Page 56



Matt Mock and Joseph Turner 
April 29, 2022 
Page 4 

 

1625 N. Waterfront Parkway, Suite 300, Wichita, KS 67206 

 
 

CORE/3521750.0006/173839792.2 

services in the area because AT&T is already located on the existing SBA tower. Discrimination is not an 

issue here because AT&T is providing service to the area regardless of how the County rules on the CUP 

Application.3  

Outside of this, the only other major requirement imposed by the FTCA is that any decision to deny 

a request to construct wireless service facilities must be in writing and supported by "substantial evidence 

contained in a written record." Courts have made clear that this requirement is not intended to be overly 

burdensome on local governments. The FTCA's requirement that State or local government's finding be "in 

writing" does not require formal findings of fact or conclusions of law, and the board's written decision does 

not need to state every fact in the record that supports its decision. U.S. Cellular Corp. v. Bd. of Adjustment 

of City of Seminole, Okla., 180 F. App'x 791, 794 (10th Cir. 2006).  

To insist on a more detailed description of the reasons for denial would place an undue 

burden on lay zoning boards. As explained by another court considering denial of a variance 

for a communications tower, “[l]ocal zoning boards are lay citizen boards, and while their 

decisions must be in writing, the boards need not make extensive factual findings in support 

of their ultimate decision.” [] Stated another way, “council members ... are not technocrats, 

and substantial evidence review does not require that the arguments and determinations be 

stated with exacting precision so long as the ultimate conclusion is undergirded by 

reasonable evidence.”  

Id. at 801 (internal citations omitted).  

Kansas Law Similarly Does Not Require the City to Ignore its Code Requirements 

 As addressed in our prior correspondence and during the January and April 2022 Planning 

Commission meetings, SBA maintains that K.S.A. § 66-2019 (the Kansas wireless siting statute) does not 

apply to Harmoni and B+T Group's CUP application, because the new tower is proposed to be located on 

private property and the Kansas statute only applies to public property. However, even if K.S.A. § 66-2019 

did apply, it would not preclude South Hutchinson from enforcing its setback requirement for towers. The 

only provision in the Kansas statute that relates in any way to setbacks is K.S.A. § 66-2019(f)(17), which 

provides that a local authority may not "impose a greater setback or fall-zone requirement for a wireless 

support structure than for other types of commercial structure of a similar size." Accordingly, even if this 

state statute were to apply to this application for a tower on private property, the state law does not prohibit 

setback requirements. Instead, such requirements must be applied uniformly for structures of similar size, 

so that wireless towers are not unfairly targeted by setback requirements that are larger than requirements 

for similar structures. South Hutchinson's Code is clear that its 1:1 setback requirement applies not only to 

the proposed tower at issue, but also applies to similar structures. Specifically, the Code notes that its setback 

requirements apply to "[r]adio or television broadcasting towers and/or stations, microwave transmitting 

and/or receiving towers and/or stations, or any tower or other similar structure 50 feet or more in height; 

                                                             
3 Similarly, discrimination amongst tower infrastructure companies also is not an issue here.  The denial of 
the CUP Application is not preventing Harmoni from building a new cell tower in South Hutchinson – it 
would just be denying Harmoni from building an unnecessary tower in a manner that violates the City's 
Code setback requirements.  Harmoni is free to try to build elsewhere in the City. 

Exhibit E - 15

Page 57



Matt Mock and Joseph Turner 
April 29, 2022 
Page 5 

 

1625 N. Waterfront Parkway, Suite 300, Wichita, KS 67206 

 
 

CORE/3521750.0006/173839792.2 

whether publicly or privately owned." South Hutchinson Code, 27-104(24) (emphasis added). Accordingly, 

the Code does not unfairly target wireless communication towers with different setback requirements, and 

instead applies those requirements to similar structures of 50 feet or more in height. As such, the South 

Hutchinson Code's setback requirements do not violate Kansas law, and more specifically do not violate 

K.S.A. § 66-2019 even if it were found to apply here.  

Because South Hutchinson's Setback Requirements Do Not Violate Federal or State Law, the 

Requirements Must Be Enforced 

Municipalities may exercise their general police powers to regulate land use through reasonable 

zoning regulations promoting the public good. Lambert v. City of Leawood, 471 P.3d 36, *3 (Kan. Ct. App. 

2020) (citing Village of Euclid, Ohio v. Ambler Realty Co., 272 U.S. 365, 387-88 (1926)). As part of this 

authority, municipalities are permitted to impose reasonable setback requirements. Id. at *3. Importantly, 

South Hutchinson's zoning regulations govern CUPs, and any conditional use that is permitted "must be 

reasonable and conform to standards or conditions designed to protect the interests of adjoining owners." 

Neis v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs of Douglas Cty., 293 P.3d 168, *8 (Kan. Ct. App. 2013). Kansas law permits 

municipalities to grant CUPs; however, any such grant is subject to the local authority's codes which govern 

the issuance of special use or conditional use permits. Id.  

While Kansas law allows for local authorities to issue conditional use permits (a type of permit which 

authorizes property owners to use property in a manner which would not otherwise comply with the local 

zoning code), CUPs must confirm to the standards set by those local authorities. Here, South Hutchinson 

has established setback requirements for wireless towers and other structures of similar height. These 

requirements are not optional and must be complied with. Because the Proposed Tower does not meet the 

setback requirements, it cannot be permitted under the language of the City's Code.  

Kansas Case Law Issued Following the Enactment of the FTCA Demonstrates that Impact 

Aesthetics and Community Opposition Can Legally Justify the Denial of a Conditional Use 

Permit for a Proposed New Cell Tower 

While the FTCA prohibits local zoning authorities from discriminating against providers and 

prohibiting the provision of wireless services, and requires local authorities to support their determinations 

with "substantial evidence contained in a written record," the FTCA does not otherwise meaningfully limit 

local authorities' power to make zoning decisions. During both the January and April Planning Commission 

meetings, Mr. Mock indicated that he had received a written comment from a property owner who opposed 

the siting of Harmoni's new tower. At the April Planning Commission, a South Hutchinson property owner 

(who owned multiple properties in town) spoke regarding his opposition to the specific placement of the 

Proposed Tower, and this property owner specifically noted aesthetic/visual concerns with the Proposed 

Tower. While the Proposed Tower's failure to meet the setback requirement requires the CUP be denied on 

its own, the additional presence of community opposition and aesthetic concerns further suggest the CUP 

application should be denied. 

The cases of Stout & Co., LLC and R.H. Gump Revocable Tr. discussed below are Kansas cases that 

were decided while the FTCA was in effect, and in both cases, the Courts confirmed that localities could 

Exhibit E - 16

Page 58



Matt Mock and Joseph Turner 
April 29, 2022 
Page 6 

 

1625 N. Waterfront Parkway, Suite 300, Wichita, KS 67206 

 
 

CORE/3521750.0006/173839792.2 

consider local zoning regulations as well as aesthetic concerns in denying permit applications for 

construction of cell towers. 

Stout & Co., LLC v. City of Bel Aire, Kansas, No. 2:15-CV-09323-JTM, 2016 WL 3759440, at *2 (D. Kan. 

July 14, 2016).4 

 In this case, Bel Aire's zoning regulations contained a number of factors for the city council to 

consider when evaluating zoning changes. Id. at *3. Bel Aire denied an application for a wireless 

telecommunication facility, and the Court held that Bel Aire set forth substantial evidence in support of its 

determination noting "[t]he substantial evidence standard does not create a substantive federal limitation 

on local land use regulatory power. [] Rather, the inquiry depends upon state and local law, with the court 

looking to the local zoning law for the substantive criteria to be applied and determining whether substantial 

evidence existed to support the city’s decision." Id. at *8 (internal citations omitted). The Court found that 

the reasons for denying the application were consistent with Bel Aire's zoning regulations, and the Court 

stated the locality could properly consider aesthetic concerns because "[n]othing in the TCA required the 

city council to cast aside its common sense in evaluating the visual impact of a galvanized tower rising five 

times the height of surrounding homes in the midst of a residential neighborhood." Id. at *9. 

R.H. Gump Revocable Tr. v. City of Wichita, 35 Kan. App. 2d 501, 131 P.3d 1268 (2006) 

 In this case, the Court of Appeals of Kansas evaluated the denial of a conditional use permit to allow 

construction of a cellular communications tower. The court held that substantial evidence existed under the 

FTCA to support the decision. The Court allowed the City to rely on aesthetic concerns for the denial of the 

conditional use permit, reasoning that such concerns "may be considered as a basis for zoning rulings." Id. 

at 512. The Court held that the City's decision to deny an applicant's permit application for a cellular 

communications tower was not improper, even though the "City's determination was based solely upon the 

visual impact and aesthetics of the proposed stealth tower." Id. at 509. While the application met the 

technical requirements of the City's master plan, it was nonetheless rejected, because of the negative visual 

appeal of the tower. Id. at 511. In evaluating "substantial evidence" under the FTCA, the Court reasoned that 

the Act gives ultimate authority to local governing bodies to make zoning decision. Id. at 512. 

Proper Notice to Affected Property Owners is Required Before a Permit Can be Issued 

 It is my understanding that there may have been some confusion regarding the notice required for 

the Planning Commission meeting. K.S.A. § 12-757(b) provides rules regarding the required notice. For 

zoning within city limits, written notice of the proposed amendment must be mailed at least 20 days before 

the hearing to all owners of record of real property within the area to be altered and to all owners of record 

of real property located within at least 200 feet of the area proposed to be altered. K.S.A. § 12-757(b). 

However, "[i]f a city proposes a zoning amendment to property located adjacent to or outside the city's limits, 

the area of notification of the city's action shall be extended to at least 1,000 feet in the unincorporated area." 

Id. It is my understanding that the proposed tower is outside South Hutchinson's city limits but within its 

zoning jurisdiction. Assuming that is the case, the 1,000 foot (not 200 foot) area of notification would apply. 

                                                             
4 Notably, the Stout case was issued just 2 weeks after K.S.A. § 66-2019 was enacted into law, although the 
Stout case does not reference the Kansas statute in its ruling.   

Exhibit E - 17

Page 59



Matt Mock and Joseph Turner 
April 29, 2022 
Page 7 

 

1625 N. Waterfront Parkway, Suite 300, Wichita, KS 67206 

 
 

CORE/3521750.0006/173839792.2 

If there has been an error in the notice provided, that would impact the City's ability to legally make a zoning 

change. If there has been an error in the notice provided, SBA requests that the City re-notice Harmoni's 

CUP request in compliance with the procedures set forth in K.S.A. § 12-757 and start the process over before 

the Planning Commission. 

Conclusion 

I hope this letter is helpful in clarifying any issues or concerns that were addressed in the Planning 

Commission meetings and which will be addressed to the City Council. I would request that this letter be 

provided to the members of the City Council, and we will provide this information during the public 

comment portion of the City Council's May 2, 2022 meeting as well. At the conclusion of the Planning 

Commission meeting, one member stated that it would be helpful to have more information on the FTCA 

and its interaction with the City's setback requirement, as that argument during the Planning Commission 

meeting came as a surprise. While SBA maintains that the City's setback requirements are clear, and 

Harmoni's request for a CUP should be denied, another option for the City Council is to return the matter to 

the planning commission (without approving or denying) for additional consideration based on this 

additional information regarding the City's setback requirements and their interaction with the FTCA. 

Sincerely, 

/s/ Luke R. VanFleteren 
 

cc:   
  

Exhibit E - 18

Page 60



 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

ITEM: 
G 2 

 

 

Meeting Date:   May 2, 2022 
Department:   Administration 
Prepared By:  Joseph Turner, City Administrator 
Agenda Title:  Market South Hutchinson Appointment 

 

Background/Analysis – In 2005, the City of South Hutchinson entered into an 
agreement with Market South Hutchinson (MSH) who is responsible for promoting 
convention and tourism in our city through the development of marketing initiatives, 
programs, or events/projects. MSH is funded through the transient guest tax (TGT) 
levied on visitors staying in local hotels, motels, and different types of short-term rentals. 
 
The MSH bylaws state that its board shall consist of seven (7) members from various 
organizations. The City of South Hutchinson is allotted one seat on the board. Matt 
Mock, a current employee, used to occupy that seat before he became the chairman of 
the board. Consequently, the City seat is now vacant.  
 
Financial Impact – None. 
 
Recommendation – Staff recommends the Council appoint the city administrator or his/her 
designee to be appointed as the City’s representative on the Market South Hutchinson 
board. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

ITEM: 
G 3 

 

 

Meeting Date:   May 2, 2022 
Department:   Administration 
Prepared By:  Joseph Turner, City Administrator 
Agenda Title:  GIS/Asset Management Software Vendor Agreement 

 

Background/Analysis – The Council previously identified infrastructure as the most 
important focus area in previous workshops. Within the infrastructure category, locating 
and mapping water and sewer infrastructure assets through GIS software was identified 
as a high priority. 
 
Staff have reviewed vendors and determined that Aktivov Asset Management software 
is the preferred option. There are limited players in the space and Aktivov was superior 
to other options when you considered the following factors: 
 

• Initial start-up costs/fees 

• Annual maintenance charges 

• Customer service 

• User-friendly interface 

• Inclusion of work request and work order modules and other features 
 
The first-year cost for this software will include an $8,000 set up/roll out plus an annual 
maintenance charge of $10,000. Year two charges will be the $10,000 annual 
maintenance charge. These costs will be split evenly between the water and sewer 
departments. 
 
There are some additional incidental on-time costs related to acquisition of a GIS 
mapping device of approximately $1,000. 
 
Financial Impact – Costs for 2022 and 2023 will be $18,000 and $10,000, respectively, with 
these amounts split between the water and sewer utilities. 
 
Recommendation – Staff recommends the Council authorize city administrator to enter into 
an agreement with Aktivov Asset Management to provide GIS/asset management software 
solutions. 
 
Exhibit F – Proposal & Agreement with Aktivov Asset Management 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



 

AKTIVOV Professional Services Agreement – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 1 | P a g e  

 

AKTIVOV PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

THIS AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES (“Services Agreement”, or “Agreement”) 
is between AKTIVOV LLC (“SERVICE PROVIDER"), a Washington corporation, with its 
principal place of business at 24919 SE 41st Dr, Issaquah, WA, 98029, and the City of South 
Hutchinson, a Kansas Corporation, with its principal place of business at 2 South Main, South 
Hutchinson, KS 67505 (CLIENT) (individually a “Party” and collectively the “Parties”).  

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the CLIENT desires to have certain services and/or tasks performed as 
set forth in Appendix A (Scope of Work in excel file module selection), below requiring 
specialized skills and other supportive capabilities; and  

WHEREAS, the SERVICE PROVIDER represents that the SERVICE PROVIDER is 
qualified and possesses sufficient skills and the necessary capabilities, including technical 
and professional expertise, where required, to perform the services and/or tasks set forth 
in this Agreement; and  

WHEREAS, the Parties have entered into a Software License Agreement and an 
Annual Software Subscription Agreement (Appendix A) contemporaneously with this 
Agreement (collectively, the “Agreements”), and the three Agreements are an integrated 
agreement between the Parties providing for the CLIENT to pay for and use (1) a license 
from the SERVICE PROVIDER for Licensed Software, (2) an annual subscription for the 
maintenance of the Licensed Software, and (3) for professional services related to the 
installation and implementation of the Licensed Software and other associated services e.g. 
GIS, GPS, integration with other systems etc.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms, conditions, covenants, and 
performance contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

This Agreement covers only the professional services work as mentioned in the 
scope of work and quotation attached herewith in Appendix A. The SERVICE PROVIDER 
shall perform such services and accomplish such tasks, as identified and designated as 
SERVICE PROVIDER responsibilities throughout this Agreement and as detailed in the 
attached Appendix A, attached hereto and incorporated herein. The CLIENT will help 
the SERVICE PROVIDER by furnishing all required materials, equipment, remote and 
onsite access to CLIENT’s infrastructure, appropriate staff, and anything else as 
necessary for full performance of services mentioned in attached quotation. This 

Exhibit F - 1

Page 63



 

AKTIVOV Professional Services Agreement – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 2 | P a g e  

 

Agreement can be amended in writing with added scope of work and budget with 
mutual agreement from both Parties. 

2. TERM 

Work shall begin no earlier than the effective date (signed date) referenced 
below, and shall be completed per schedule as negotiated between the SERVICE 
PROVIDER and the CLIENT. Note that the schedule may be adjusted in consultation 
with both parties during the course of the work to account for lags, delays, and 
resource availability of both Parties. 

3. COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT 

A. One invoice in full will be raised at the start of the implementation including any 
applicable State sales tax, in accordance with the attached quotation, copy attached 
hereto and incorporated herein in full by this reference.  

B. The SERVICE PROVIDER shall submit invoices to the CLIENT's supervising 
Project Manager. The CLIENT shall initiate authorization for payment after receipt of said 
invoice and shall make payment to the SERVICE PROVIDER within thirty (30) calendar 
days from the date of the invoice. 

C. Non-payment of any invoices: Invoices will be raised according to the payment 
schedule as mentioned in the attached quotation. If payment is not received for any 
invoice within thirty (30) calendar days from the date of invoice, the SERVICE PROVIDER 
will notify the CLIENT of payment oversight and allow additional fifteen (15) calendar days 
for payment. The SERVICE PROVIDER will charge six percent (6%) penalty if payment is 
not made by the end of the additional fifteen (15) calendar days and thereafter will 
charge two percent (2%) per month interest in addition to any legal procedures costs that 
may be incurred to recover pending payments including penalties and interest. The 
SERVICE PROVIDER also reserves the right to terminate this Agreement and discontinue 
any remaining components of any remaining tasks of the professional services due to non-
payment. 

4. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR RELATIONSHIP 

A. Both parties intend that an independent contractor relationship will be created by 
this Agreement.  

B. No agent, employee, servant or representative of the CLIENT shall be deemed to 
be an employee, servant or representative of the SERVICE PROVIDER for any purpose, and 
vice versa. The employees of the CLIENT are not entitled to any of the benefits the 
SERVICE PROVIDER provides for its employees, and vice versa. 

Exhibit F - 2

Page 64



 

AKTIVOV Professional Services Agreement – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 3 | P a g e  

 

C. In the performance of the services herein contemplated the SERVICE PROVIDER 
is an independent contractor with the authority to control and direct the performance of 
the details of the work and tasks in order to meet the desired outcomes. The CLIENT will 
help the SERVICE PROVIDER to achieve implementation goals in all reasonable ways. 

5. HOLD HARMLESS AND INDEMNIFICATION 

A. The SERVICE PROVIDER shall indemnify and hold the CLIENT and its agents, 
employees, and/or officers, harmless from any and all claims, demands, suits, at law or 
equity, actions, penalties, loss, damages, or costs, of whatsoever kind or nature 
including reasonable attorney fees and costs, brought against the CLIENT arising out of, 
or in connection with, or incident to, the SERVICE PROVIDER'S performance or failure to 
perform any aspect of this Agreement; 

B. The CLIENT shall indemnify and hold the SERVICE PROVIDER and its 
agents, employees, and/or officers, contractors harmless from any and all 
claims, demands, suits, at law or equity, actions, penalties, loss, damages, or 
costs, of whatsoever kind or nature including reasonable attorney fees and 
costs, brought against the SERVICE PROVIDER arising out of, or in connection 
with, or incident to, the CLIENT’s performance or failure to perform any aspect 
of this Agreement; 

C. If such claims are caused by or result from the concurrent negligence of 
the CLIENT and the SERVICE PROVIDER and its agents, employees, and/or officers, 
the indemnity provisions provided by the SERVICE PROVIDER shall be valid and 
enforceable only to the extent of the negligence of the SERVICE PROVIDER; 

D. Nothing herein shall require either Party to hold harmless or defend the other 
Party (Party at fault), its agents, employees, and/or officers for damages or loss caused 
by the Party at fault's negligence or errors or mistakes.  

E. The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Agreement. No liability shall attach to the SERVICE PROVIDER by reason of entering 
into this Agreement except as expressly provided herein. 

F. This Services Agreement is made entirely for the benefit of the CLIENT and 
the SERVICE PROVIDER and their successors in interest, and no third party or person 
shall have any rights hereunder whether by agency, as a third party beneficiary, or 
otherwise. 

6. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

 

Exhibit F - 3

Page 65



 

AKTIVOV Professional Services Agreement – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 4 | P a g e  

 

A. Both Parties in the performance of this Agreement, shall comply with all applicable 
(applicable to own organization) federal, state or local laws and ordinances, and is solely 
responsible for the payment of such taxes applicable to the services performed under this 
Agreement, including regulations for licensing, certification and operation of facilities, 
maintenance of insurance and records, programs and accreditation, licensing of individuals, 
and any other standards or criteria as described in this Agreement to assure quality of 
services. The SERVICE PROVIDER shall not be responsible for withholding or otherwise 
deducting federal income tax or social security or for contributing to the state industrial 
insurance or unemployment compensation programs or otherwise assuming the duties of 
an employer with respect to CLIENT or any of the CLIENT’s employees or the CLIENT’s 
other independent contractors, and vice versa. 

B. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and be 
governed by, the laws of the State of Washington without reference to conflict of laws 
principles. Both Parties hereby consent to pursue any legal procedures at the Superior 
Court of King County, State of Washington, and waive their rights to change venue. 

7. NONDISCRIMINATION 

A. Nondiscrimination in Employment: In the performance of this Agreement, both 
Parties will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment on the 
grounds of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, marital status, age, sexual orientation, 
religion, veteran's status, or the presence of any sensory, mental or physical handicap or 
any other bases prohibited by applicable Federal, State, or local law; provided that the 
prohibition against discrimination in employment is because of the particular work involved. 
Both parties shall ensure that own employees are treated during employment without 
discrimination because of their race, creed, color, national origin, sex, marital status, age or 
the presence of any sensory, mental or physical handicap. 

B. Nondiscrimination in Services: Both Parties will not discriminate against any 
recipient of any services, or benefits provided for in this Agreement of the grounds of 
race, creed, color, national origin, sex, marital status, age or the presence of any sensory, 
mental or physical handicap. 

8. SUBCONTRACTING 

The SERVICE PROVIDER may subcontract its performance or any portion of its 
performance or tasks under this Agreement (see Appendix A) or any portion of this 
Agreement as deemed necessary at the SERVICE PROVIDER’s discretion for the execution 
and implementation of the scope of work, and shall inform the CLIENT about it in writing 
and obtain consent from the CLIENT. It is already known and agreed between the parties 
that the SERVICE PROVIDER will use subcontractor(s) in India for this implementation and 
support. Other subcontractors may be used as needed at the sole discretion of the SERVICE 

Exhibit F - 4

Page 66



 

AKTIVOV Professional Services Agreement – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 5 | P a g e  

 

PROVIDER to perform services. The SERVICE PROVIDER shall be held responsible for all 
performance related to the SERVICE PROVIDER pursuant to this agreement. However, the 
SERVICE PROVIDER is not responsible for any performance pursuant to this agreement that 
is related to the CLIENT and is the responsibility of the CLIENT. 

9. CHANGES 

Either Party may request additions to the scope of services to be provided 
hereunder; however, no change or addition to this Agreement shall be valid or binding 
upon either Party unless such change or addition be in writing and signed by both 
Parties. Such amendments (scope and associated budget) shall be attached to and made 
a part of this Agreement. 

10. PROHIBITED INTEREST 

No member, officer, or employee of the CLIENT shall have any unlawful interest, 
direct or indirect, in this Agreement or in the SERVICE PROVIDER or the proceeds thereof.  

11. TERMINATION 

If this Agreement is terminated for convenience by CLIENT, the SERVICE PROVIDER 
shall be paid all associated costs, including but not limited to, damage and loss of work cost 
and close-out costs due to this Agreement, and costs on task performed up to the time of 
termination of this Agreement. The SERVICE PROVIDER shall promptly submit a termination 
claim to the CLIENT within (30) calendar days of such termination. If this Agreement is 
terminated for convenience by SERVICE PROVIDER, the CLIENT shall promptly pay 
SERVICE PROVIDER for all services provided up to the date of termination. If either Party 
has any property in its possession belonging to the other Party, then each Party will hand 
over or dispose of the property in the manner reasonably directed by the concerned Party.  

12. NOTICE 

Notice provided for in this Agreement shall be sent by certified mail or email to 
the addresses designated for the parties as below. Each Party will update the notice 
contact information below in writing (mail or email) if anything changes within 10 
business days of such change. 

 
Arnab Bhowmick    Joseph Turner 
AKTIVOV LLC     City Administrator 
24919 SE 41st Dr,    2 South Main,  
Sammamish, WA 98029   South Hutchinson, KS 67505 
Email: arnab@aakavs.com   Email: josepht@southhutch.com 

Exhibit F - 5

Page 67



 

AKTIVOV Professional Services Agreement – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 6 | P a g e  

 

13. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

Both Parties will attempt to settle any claim or controversy arising out of this Agreement 
through consultation and negotiation in good faith and a spirit of mutual cooperation. If 
those attempts fail, then the dispute will be mediated by a mutually acceptable mediator to 
be chosen by both Parties within thirty (30) calendar days after written notice by one of 
the Parties demanding non-binding mediation. Neither Party may unreasonably withhold 
consent to the selection of a mediator. By mutual agreement, however, the SERVICE 
PROVIDER and the CLIENT or Licensee may postpone arbitration until both parties have 
completed reasonable discovery about the dispute. If the Parties are unable to agree upon 
a mediator, then a mediator shall be assigned by the presiding judge of the Superior Court 
of King County, State of Washington. Each Party shall pay its own attorney fees and costs 
incurred in the mediation. Any dispute which cannot be resolved by the Parties through 
mediation within ninety (90) calendar days of the initial demand for it by one of the 
Parties, may be submitted to the Superior Court of King County, State of Washington, for 
resolution. Both Parties consent to jurisdiction by such court. Both Parties confirm that any 
such litigation may be subject to the applicable rules for arbitration of matters in Superior 
Court of King County, State of Washington. Both Parties agree that this dispute shall be 
decided either by an arbitrator pursuant to said rules or by a judge, and both Parties 
knowingly and fully and forever waive the right to have any dispute between the Parties 
resolved by a jury. Nothing shall prevent either of the parties from resorting to the judicial 
proceedings mentioned in this paragraph if (a) good faith efforts to attempt resolution of 
the dispute under these procedures have been unsuccessful; or (b) interim relief from the 
court is necessary to prevent serious and irreparable injury to one of the parties or others. 

14. ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS 

If any legal proceeding is brought for the enforcement of this Agreement, or because of a 
dispute, breach, default, or misrepresentation in connection with any of the provisions of 
this Agreement, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover from the other Party, in 
addition to any other relief to which such Party may be entitled, reasonable attorney's fees 
and other costs incurred in that action or proceeding, including any such fees and costs 
incurred on appeal.  

15. SEVERABILITY 

If, for any reason, any part, term or provision of this Agreement is held by the Superior 
Court of King County, State of Washington to be illegal, void or unenforceable, the 
validity of the remaining provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations 
of the Parties shall be construed and enforced as if the Agreement did not contain the 
particular provision held to be invalid. 

Exhibit F - 6

Page 68



 

AKTIVOV Professional Services Agreement – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 7 | P a g e  

 

If it should appear that any provision hereof is in conflict with any statutory provision 
of the State of Washington, said provision which may conflict therewith shall be 
deemed inoperative and null and void insofar as it may be in conflict therewith, and 
shall be deemed modified to conform to such statutory provisions. 

16. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

Both parties agree that this Agreement is the complete expression of the terms 
hereto and any oral representations or understandings not incorporated herein are 
excluded. Further, any modifications of this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by 
both Parties. It is also agreed by the parties that the forgiveness of the nonperformance of 
any provision of this Agreement does not constitute a waiver of any other provisions of this 
Agreement, or the waiver of the same provision thereafter. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement to be 
effective, valid, and binding upon the Parties as of the date set forth below as executed 
by their duly authorized representatives (“Effective Date”). 

 

Accepted and Agreed: 

AKTIVOV LLC              CITY OF SOUTH HUTCHINSON, KS 

Name:__Arnab Bhowmick_______      Name:______________________ 

Title:____Founder_____________      Title:_______________________ 

Date:_____04/27/2022_________      Date:_______________________ 

 

Signature:___________________      Signature:___________________ 

 

Exhibit F - 7

Page 69



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 1 | P a g e  

 

APPENDIX A 

 

AKTIVOV SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT 

 

This is a SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT (Agreement) for the use of AKTIVOV software as 
laid out in detail below. This Agreement is between AKTIVOV LLC (AKTIVOV), a Washington 
corporation, with its principal place of business at 24919 SE 41st Dr, Issaquah, WA, 98029, and 
the City of South Hutchinson, a Kansas Corporation, with its principal place of business at 2 
South Main, South Hutchinson, KS 67505 (Licensee) (individually a “Party” and collectively the 
“Parties”). 

This Agreement will be signed together with the AKTIVOV SOFTWARE SUBSCRIPTION 
AGREEMENT to enable the Licensee to access the AKTIVOV software as mentioned under 
Licensed Software section. 

AKTIVOV is the owner or authorized licensor of all the AKTIVOV Software modules (as 
hereinafter mentioned as "AKTIVOV" or "software" or "Licensed Software"). “AKTIVOV” 
means the actual copy or instance of all or any portion of the computer programs 
provided or hosted by AKTIVOV and accessed by the Licensee or subscribed from 
AKTIVOV as listed in Licensed Software section, inclusive of backups, updates, or 
merged copies permitted hereunder or subsequently provided by AKTIVOV. AKTIVOV 
gives the Licensee certain limited rights under this Agreement to access and use 
AKTIVOV proprietary hosted Licensed Software and any relevant materials. All rights not 
specifically granted to the Licensee or anyone else in this Agreement are reserved to 
AKTIVOV. 

Relevant Materials: Relevant materials means any printed material, user documentation, 
training documentation, videos used for training of the software, and confidential activation 
code (if any) or any relevant documents for AKTIVOV supplied by AKTIVOV under this 
Agreement. All these materials are treated as confidential and should not be provided to or 
accessed by any third parties. 

Effective Date: This date shall mean the date on which this Agreement is signed 
between the Licensee and AKTIVOV. 

Licensed Software: AKTIVOV grants to the Licensee a non-exclusive, non-transferable 
license to use the AKTIVOV software modules obtained under this Agreement. Modules 
granted for usage in an "as is" condition and are mentioned in the attached quote. 
(“As is” indicates that there may be some “errors or bugs” where adjustments or 
repairs may be needed that will be fixed by AKTIVOV over time as necessary to 
maintain functionality. This in no way indicates that the program will not operate.). 

Exhibit F - 8

Page 70



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 2 | P a g e  

 

License Fees: The Licensee will pay AKTIVOV a total one-time initial product License or 
Usage fee (License Fee) in one full invoice including any applicable sales tax for the "Licensed 
Software" at the start of the implementation according to the quotation, copy attached hereto 
and incorporated herein in full by this reference, provided to the Licensee for this matter. This 
fee has been negotiated and agreed between the Licensee and AKTIVOV. AKTIVOV must 
receive full payment within thirty (30) calendar days after each invoice is raised following the 
payment schedule (see quote). If payment is not received within this time, AKTIVOV will 
notify the Licensee of payment oversight and allow additional fifteen (15) calendar days for 
payment remedy. Otherwise, AKTIVOV reserves rights to terminate this agreement 
immediately and cut off all access to Licensed Software usage and relevant materials. 

Term: This Agreement shall become effective on the Effective Date (signature date) and shall 
be valid for as long as Licensee complies with the “Permitted Uses” and “Uses Not Permitted” 
provisions of this Agreement and no harm is done in any way to AKTIVOV.  AKTIVOV may 
terminate this Agreement by 30 calendar days' prior written notice to Licensee if the Licensee 
fails to comply with the “Permitted Uses” and “Uses Not Permitted” provisions of this 
Agreement.  The Licensee shall have thirty (30) calendar days after receiving notice of the 
alleged failed compliance from AKTIVOV to address the issue and correct it.  If this Agreement 
is terminated in accordance with the terms in this Agreement or any other reason the Licensee 
shall then return to AKTIVOV or stop subscribing to AKTIVOV Licensed Software, relevant 
modules, relevant updates, and any whole or partial copies, codes, modifications, and merged 
portions in any form. The parties hereby agree that all provisions which operate to protect the 
intellectual rights of AKTIVOV shall remain in force should any breach or termination occur. 
AKTIVOV will not refund any money or payments to the Licensee on any reason for 
termination. 

Grant of License: AKTIVOV retains exclusive rights, title and ownership of any copy or form 
of Licensed Software and all relevant materials, and grants to the Licensee a personal, 
nonexclusive, nontransferable license to access and use the hosted Licensed Software and 
relevant materials pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. From the Effective 
Date, the Licensee agrees to use reasonable effort to protect Licensed Software and all 
relevant materials from unauthorized use, reproduction, reverse engineering, distribution, 
leak, or publication. 

Copyright: Licensed Software and all relevant materials are owned by AKTIVOV and are 
protected by United States copyright laws and applicable international treaties and/or 
conventions. 

Permitted Uses: 

 The Licensee may use the Licensed Software for the number of users and modules of 
Licensed Software as mentioned in Section "License Software" for which License Fees 
have been paid. 

Exhibit F - 9

Page 71



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 3 | P a g e  

 

 License Fees paid by the Licensee is for the Licensee’s own internal use only. The 
Licensee will not grant usage of Licensed Software to anyone else other than its own 
employees. If the Licensee wishes to grant usage of the Licensed Software to anyone 
else, additional costs must be discussed with AKTIVOV before such written usage 
authorization is granted by AKTIVOV to the Licensee. 

 The Licensee's vendors or partners can observe the software usage on a Licensee's 
device operated by a Licensee's employee. Licensee's employee(s) must be present 
to operate the software if any of the Licensee's vendor or partner request to view 
software usage. The Licensee's vendors or partners cannot access, download, install 
or use AKTIVOV software without written permission from AKTIVOV. 

 The Licensee must pay the annual subscription fee (refer to Annual Software 
Subscription Agreement for maintenance and support) in order to keep using 
the software beyond first year of usage or as set forth in the attached 
quotation. 

 The Licensee may only use the Licensed Software subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement. 

Uses Not Permitted: 

 
 The Licensee shall not resell, lease, rent, license or sub-license, time-share, lend, loan, 

assign, allow using, transferring, or exporting, in whole or in part to any other 
unlicensed third parties, or provide access (on Licensee's or third parties' hardware) to 
prior or present or future versions of Licensed Software, any updates, or the Licensee’s 
rights under this Agreement. Nothing in this Section shall prevent use of and access to 
Licensed Software by the Licensee’s employees. 
 

 The Licensee shall not copy, alter, modify, merge, reproduce, and create derivative 
works of the software or relevant materials accessible to the Licensee under this 
Agreement. The Licensee shall not reverse engineer, decompile, or disassemble 
Licensed Software, or make any attempt to unlock or bypass Licensed Software's 
security or authorization codes, as applicable, subject to governing laws. 
 

 The Licensee shall neither provide any Licensee's device to its vendors or partners to 
use the Licensed Software nor provide the Licensed Software to be installed or accessed 
by its vendors' or partners' on their devices for usage.  
 

 The Licensee shall not remove or obscure any AKTIVOV copyright or trademarks or 
notices from anywhere. 

Exhibit F - 10

Page 72



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 4 | P a g e  

 

Annual Subscription: Refer to the Annual Software Subscription Agreement for details. 

Assignment: AKTIVOV may allow any portion of this Agreement as deemed necessary to 
another organization and will notify the Licensee of any such agreements. It is already 
known and agreed between the parties that AKTIVOV will use subcontractor(s) in 
India. Any portion of this agreement that AKTIVOV may subcontract to another party 
would be as a subcontractor to AKTIVOV to fulfill AKTIVOV's responsibility under this 
contract. Any negotiation or contract with the Licensee will be with AKTIVOV LLC 
exclusively as an USA entity.   

Limited Warranty: AKTIVOV warrants that it owns or has the full right and authority 
and all associated intellectual property rights necessary to grant the Licensee rights and 
licenses set forth in this Agreement to Licensed Software and relevant materials. AKTIVOV 
only warrants the Licensed Software for the authorized purpose of capturing data for 
computerized maintenance management. AKTIVOV DISCLAIMS ALL OTHER 
WARRANTIES, EITHER EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, 
THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 
PURPOSE, WITH RESPECT TO LICENSED SOFTWARE. AKTIVOV DOES NOT WARRANT 
THAT THE OPERATIONS OF ITS RESPECTIVE SOFTWARE AND RELEVANT MATERIALS 
WILL BE ALWAYS UNINTERRUPTED AND/OR ERROR FREE. 

Limitation of Liability: AKTIVOV shall not be liable for indirect, special, incidental, 
or consequential damages relevant to or arising from the Licensee’s use of Licensed 
Software. IN NO EVENT SHALL AKTIVOV BE LIABLE TO THE LICENSEE FOR COSTS 
OF PROCUREMENT OF LICENSED SOFTWARE OR SUBSTITUTE GOODS OR SERVICES, 
LOST PROFITS, LOST SALES OR BUSINESS EXPENDITURES, INVESTMENTS, OR 
COMMITMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH ANY BUSINESS, LOSS OF ANY GOODWILL, 
OR FOR ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES 
ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR USE OF THE SOFTWARE AND RELEVANT 
MATERIALS. 

Indemnity: Licensee will not make any unauthorized alterations or modifications to the 
Licensed Software. AKTIVOV will not indemnify or defend the Licensee from any 
infringement claim resulting from the Licensee’s unauthorized use, modification, or alteration 
of Licensed Software or relevant materials. 

Export Regulations: The Licensee agrees not to export Licensed Software to a 
country which does not have copyright laws that will protect AKTIVOV’s proprietary 
rights. The Licensee also agrees not to export Licensed Software into any other 
country or anywhere without written authorization from AKTIVOV. 

Force Majeure: Either Party shall not be liable for failure or delay in the performance 
of a required obligation during any period where such failure or delay is caused by 
strike, riot, fire, flood, natural disaster, and other similar cause beyond that Party’s 

Exhibit F - 11

Page 73



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 5 | P a g e  

 

control, provided that such Party gives written notice to the other Party and resumes 
its performance within reasonable time.  

 

Severability: If any provision(s) of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal, or 
unenforceable by Superior Court of King County, State of Washington, the validity, legality, 
and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired 
thereby. The remaining provisions of this Agreement shall be enforceable to the extent 
permissible under the laws of the State of Washington. 

No Implied Waivers: No failure or delay by AKTIVOV or the Licensee in enforcing any 
right or remedy under this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any future or other 
exercise of such right or remedy by AKTIVOV or the Licensee. 

Order of Precedence: Any conflict between the terms of this License Agreement 
and any other agreements or other terms shall be resolved in favor of the terms of 
this License Agreement. 

Governing Law: This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and 
be governed by, the laws of the State of Washington without reference to conflict of laws 
principles. Both AKTIVOV and the Licensee hereby consent to pursue any legal procedures in 
Superior Court of King County, State of Washington, and waive their rights to change 
venue. 

Dispute Resolution: Both Parties will attempt to settle any claim or controversy arising out of 
this Agreement through consultation and negotiation in good faith and a spirit of mutual 
cooperation. If those attempts fail, then the dispute will be mediated by a mutually acceptable 
mediator to be chosen by both Parties within thirty (30) calendar days after written notice by 
one of the Parties demanding non-binding mediation. Neither Party may unreasonably 
withhold consent to the selection of a mediator. By mutual agreement, however, AKTIVOV 
and the Licensee may postpone arbitration until both parties have completed reasonable 
discovery about the dispute. If the Parties are unable to agree upon a mediator, then a 
mediator shall be assigned by the presiding judge of the Superior Court of King County, State 
of Washington. Each Party shall pay its own attorney fees and costs incurred in the mediation. 
Any dispute which cannot be resolved by the Parties through mediation within ninety (90) 
calendar days of the initial demand for it by one of the Parties, may be submitted to the 
Superior Court of King County, State of Washington, for resolution. Both Parties consent to 
jurisdiction by such court. Both Parties confirm that any such litigation may be subject to the 
applicable rules for arbitration of matters in Superior Court of King County, State of 
Washington. Both Parties agree that this dispute shall be decided either by an arbitrator 
pursuant to said rules or by a judge, and both Parties knowingly and fully and forever waive 
the right to have any dispute between the Parties resolved by a jury. Nothing shall prevent 
either of the parties from resorting to the judicial proceedings mentioned in this paragraph if 
(a) good faith efforts to attempt resolution of the dispute under these procedures have been 

Exhibit F - 12

Page 74



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 6 | P a g e  

 

unsuccessful; or (b) interim relief from the court is necessary to prevent serious and 
irreparable injury to one of the parties or others. 

Entire Agreement: This Agreement constitutes the sole and entire Software License 
Agreement of the parties as to the matter set forth herein and supersedes any previous 
agreements, understandings, and arrangements between the parties relating hereto. Except 
as otherwise expressly provided herein, any Amendments to this Agreement must be in 
writing and signed by an authorized representative of each Party. 

Data Confidentiality Statement: The Parties recognize that the Licensee’s data hosted 
by AKTIVOV will remain the Licensee's property, and may be subject to public disclosure. 
Data provided by either Party, either before or after the Effective Date of this Agreement 
shall only be used for its intended purpose. Neither Party shall utilize nor distribute the data 
in any form without the prior expressed written approval of the Party that owns the data.  

While providing the Services under this Agreement, both Parties may encounter personal 
information, licensed technology, software, documentation, drawings, schematics, manuals, 
data and other materials described as “Confidential”, “Proprietary,” or “Business Secret”. 
Note that all information related AKTIVOV are Confidential, and should be protected from 
any competitor(s) by the Licensee. No Party shall disclose or publish the information and 
material received or used in performance of this Agreement. This obligation is perpetual; 
provided, the Agreement imposes no obligation upon a Party with respect to confidential 
information which the Party can establish that: (i) was in the possession of, or was rightfully 
known by the Party without an obligation to maintain its confidentiality prior to receipt from 
another Party; (ii) is or becomes generally known to the public without violation of this 
Agreement; (iii) is obtained by the receiving Party in good faith from a third party having 
the right to disclose it without an obligation of confidentiality; or, (iv) is independently 
developed by a Party without the participation of individuals who have had access to that 
Party’s or the third party’s confidential information. If either Party is required by law to 
disclose confidential information, the disclosing Party shall notify the other Party of such 
requirement prior to disclosure.  

If any software, data and related materials, exchanged between the Parties are to be 
protected under the law, both Parties shall clearly identify each such item with words such 
as “CONFIDENTIAL”, “PROPRIETARY,” or “BUSINESS SECRET.” If a request is made for 
disclosure of such item, each Party shall determine whether the material should be made 
available under applicable Washington law and inform the other Party. If the material or 
parts thereof are determined by any Party to be exempt from public disclosure, those 
exempted documents or information or portions thereof shall not be released. If any Party 
determines the material is not exempt from public disclosure law, or any Party is not in the 
position to make such a determination, the Party shall notify the other Party of the public 
records request and allow the other Party fifteen (15) business days to obtain a court order 
enjoining the Party from disclosing the requested public record or portions thereof. If any 
Party fails or neglects to obtain such a court order within said period, the other Party shall 

Exhibit F - 13

Page 75



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 7 | P a g e  

 

release the requested public records. By signing this Agreement, both Parties agree to the 
procedure set forth in this Subsection and shall have no claim against each other on account 
of actions taken under such procedure. 

Notices: The following contact information will be used for mailing any notices by email or 
certified mail. Each Party will update the notice contact information below in writing (mail or 
email) if anything changes within 10 business days of such change. 
 

Arnab Bhowmick    Joseph Turner 
AKTIVOV LLC     City Administrator 
24919 SE 41st Dr,    2 South Main,  
Sammamish, WA 98029   South Hutchinson, KS 67505 
Email: arnab@aakavs.com   Email: josepht@southhutch.com 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement to be 
effective, valid, and binding upon the Parties as of the date below as executed by their 
duly authorized representatives. 

Accepted and Agreed:  

AKTIVOV LLC              CITY OF SOUTH HUTCHINSON, KS 

Name:__Arnab Bhowmick_______      Name:______________________ 

Title:____Founder_____________      Title:_______________________ 

Date:_____04/27/2022_________      Date:_______________________ 

 

Signature:___________________      Signature:___________________ 

  

Exhibit F - 14

Page 76



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 8 | P a g e  

 

AKTIVOV ANNUAL SOFTWARE SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT 

This ANNUAL SOFTWARE SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT (Agreement) is between 
AKTIVOV LLC (AKTIVOV), a Washington corporation, with its principal place of 
business at 24919 SE 41st Dr, Issaquah, WA, 98029, and the City of South Hutchinson, 
a Kansas Corporation, with its principal place of business at 2 South Main, South 
Hutchinson, KS 67505  (Licensee) (individually a “Party” and collectively the “Parties”). 
This Subscription Agreement is for annual maintenance and support, and it 
supplements the Software License Agreement (Agreement) entered into and 
between the Parties contemporaneously with this Subscription Agreement to enable 
the Licensee to access the AKTIVOV Software modules. 

AKTIVOV is the owner and authorized licensor of all the AKTIVOV Software modules 
(as hereinafter mentioned as "AKTIVOV" or "software" or "Licensed Software"). 
AKTIVOV grants the Licensee certain limited rights under this Agreement to use 
AKTIVOV' proprietary Licensed Software and any relevant materials. All rights not 
specifically granted to the Licensee or anyone else in this Agreement are reserved 
to AKTIVOV. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants 
herein, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as 
follows: 

AGREEMENT 

This Agreement and the terms and conditions hereof shall govern all access and 
usage of the subscribed Licensed Software codes, support, and related user 
manuals or training materials, and any base updates, modifications or 
enhancements to such software product, which have been developed by, or on 
behalf of AKTIVOV, and provided to Licensee by AKTIVOV. All software 
Subscription and Support will be governed by the terms of this Agreement. 

1. DEFINITIONS 

a. "Proprietary or Confidential Information" shall have the meaning given 
such term in the Agreement. 

b. "Licensed Software" shall mean the particular AKTIVOV software modules and 
functionalities within those modules hosted by AKTIVOV as identified in the 
Agreement, including all programs and source codes, machine-readable 
codes, and relevant documentation. 

c. "Documentation" shall mean all relevant end-user documentation, training 
materials or videos, specifications, notes and technical documents and 

Exhibit F - 15

Page 77



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 9 | P a g e  

 

materials sufficient to permit the Licensee to use the Licensed Software 
hosted by AKTIVOV. 

d. "Error(s) or Bug(s)" shall mean defect(s) in the Licensed Software which 
prevent it from performing in accordance with Aktivov specifications as 
mutually determined. Severity level should be reported as below: 

i. Level 1: Urgent; software has totally stopped. 

ii. Level 2: Non-Urgent, can wait; software has not totally stopped. 

e. "Response Remedies" shall mean the response times for errors or bugs 
severity levels. 

f. "Subscription Start Date" shall mean July 1 of every year; "Subscription 
End Date" shall mean June 30 of every year. Subscription year for any 
yearly term will be from July 1 of the starting year through June 30 of the 
next year. 

g. "Object Code" shall mean the computer software code which results from 
the translation or processing of source code by a computer into machine 
executable or intermediate code, such code is not readily understandable to 
a human being but is appropriate for execution or interpretation by a 
computer. 

h. "Software Fixes" shall mean corrections and bug fixes to the Licensed 
Software to correct issues and deviations in the Licensed Software. All such 
fixes delivered to the Licensee shall become part of the base Licensed 
Software under the Agreement. 

i. "Software Customizations" shall mean all customized additions to the Licensed 
Software, which adds to or alters the function(s) of the Licensed Software or 
integrates with other software, as requested by the Licensee. This may 
include, but not be limited to, any scripts, interfaces, reports or program code 
requested by the Licensee that provide specific functionality uniquely designed 
for the Licensee. Separate cost structure will be worked out and agreed 
between AKTIVOV and the Licensee for any customizations and annual 
maintenance/ upkeep/ upgrade of such customizations. 

j. "Software Updates" are software fixes, patches, new features that become 
part of the base License Software, and changes to object codes (including 
original codes). AKTIVOV will have full ownership and licensing rights of 
such software updates, and retains the right to implement, utilize, modify, 
enhance or decommission such software updates as AKTIVOV deems 
appropriate. 

Exhibit F - 16

Page 78



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 10 | P a g e  

 

k. "Successor Products" shall mean any software product under any name 
released by AKTIVOV that provides at least the same functionality of the then 
current version of the Licensed Software, provided AKTIVOV ceases to offer 
Subscription for the Licensed Software as named in the Agreement. 

l. "Amendment or Modification to this Subscription Agreement" shall mean that 
both Parties agree that this Agreement is the complete expression of the 
terms hereto and any oral representations or understandings not incorporated 
herein, except the Agreement, are excluded. Further, any modifications of this 
Agreement shall be in writing and signed by both Parties. 

2. SUBSCRIPTION 

a. Unlimited phone, email, ad hoc, and remote support per month will be provided 
to the Licensee  during the Annual Subscription period. Anything beyond 
regular support related to the released version of the software (e.g. any 
negotiated custom work) will be handled as Time and Materials work ($200 per 
hour, 10% increase year on year) or lump-sum basis (if appropriate) with prior 
authorization from the Licensee. Note that time spent internal to AKTIVOV to 
program and deploy updates, patches, bug fixes, security updates etc. are 
automatically included in annual subscription. 
 

b. A Client Services Manager (CSM) will be assigned to the Licensee as one point 
of contact. The Licensee will identify a resource to serve as one point of 
contact from the Licensee’s side. These two points of contact will work with 
each other to solve issues.  
 

c. The services to be provided during the Annual Subscription period include 
Software Updates to the Licensed Software. This does not include any annual 
maintenance for any additional modules, features and functions that has not 
been bought yet under the current contract. 
 

d. The services to be provided during the Annual Subscription period include 
software fixes, patches, security updates etc. to the Licensed Software. Note 
that the Licensee must provide AKTIVOV with written specific narratives about 
the bugs and errors in the system and the manner in which the Licensed 
Software is not functioning properly with pictures and screenshots to the best 
of the Licensee staff’s ability. 
 

e. The Licensee should try to resolve all problems internally before reporting a 
problem or issue or bug with AKTIVOV. If the Licensee solves an issue or 
problem on its own, the Licensee should document the problem and the 
resolution and send an email report to AKTIVOV. If the problem still persists, the 
Licensee should report it to AKTIVOV by raising a ticket in AKTIVOV online help 
desk (bug tracking system). Moreover, the Licensee should first isolate the 
problems and issues as Licensed Software related and not something related to 
any other software or system used by the Licensee. 
 

f. Subscription shall mean  
 

Exhibit F - 17

Page 79



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 11 | P a g e  

 

i. Delivery to Licensee of all base revisions of modules bought by the 
Licensee in final form together with all accompanying documentation, if 
any. Note that any custom developments done and paid by any other 
customers do not automatically become available to the Licensee, but 
custom developments paid by the Licensee becomes available to the 
Licensee. 
 

ii. AKTIVOV's compliance with the Response Remedies to the severity 
levels of bugs and errors are specified below:  
 

1.  Level 1: Response provided within 24 to 48 hours.  
2.  Level 2: Response provided within 5 to 7 business days. 

 
g. AKTIVOV shall make all reasonable efforts to provide the Software Updates 

that are necessary to assure the Licensed Software is functioning properly. 
 

h. AKTIVOV will provide Email, Phone or Web support during normal business 
hours, 8 AM to 5 PM U.S. Pacific Time, Monday through Friday except holidays. 
Special support may be extended after regular work hours making this a 24 x 7 
support on a case to case basis for emergencies only (additional costs may be 
incurred for this kind of special support). After hours (5 PM though 8AM U.S. 
Pacific Time, Monday through Friday except holidays) emergency/ very critical 
support phone or email will be provided to the Licensee for very urgent 
support that stops work for several Licensee's staff during emergency or 
critical situations. AKTIVOV will make all reasonable efforts to acknowledge 
and respond to the request for support for critical problems that occur outside 
of normal business hours within 24 to 48 hours of receipt of the call or email 
from a designated and authorized Licensee representative. 
 

i. The Licensee will allow AKTIVOV's access to the Licensee’s systems in order to 
perform thorough remote diagnostics and effect remote repairs, upgrades, and 
fixes if needed. 
 

j. Depending upon the type of problem reported (urgent or non-urgent), 
AKTIVOV staff may need to travel. Travel (actual expenses with actual 
receipts, mileage reimbursed at the IRS mileage rate at the time of expense) 
related expenses shall be all the reasonable expenses incurred by AKTIVOV 
while conducting business authorized by Licensee, including, but not limited to, 
air and surface transportation, lodging, car rental, meals, and incidentals. All 
travel expenses must be approved in advance by the appropriate Licensee 
representative. In emergency situations, AKTIVOV may travel without the 
Licensee's approval but still the Licensee agrees to reimburse AKTIVOV for all 
travel related expenses. AKTIVOV will pay for all travel expenses, and then the 
Licensee will reimburse AKTIVOV per the expense statements submitted by 
AKTIVOV. 
 

k. If any problems reported are not related to AKTIVOV Licensed Software, 
AKTIVOV will negotiate with the Licensee and charge for reasonable resource 
time and costs incurred to resolve such unrelated problems. This will be 
invoiced to the Licensee ($200 per hour, 10% increase year on year) beyond 
regular Subscription costs as consulting or professional services costs to 
identify or solve non-Aktivov issues. 

Exhibit F - 18

Page 80



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 12 | P a g e  

 

 
 
 

3. INVOICE AND PAYMENT 

a. AKTIVOV will raise any invoices owed by Licensee, stating, without limitation, 
all amounts due from Licensee to AKTIVOV under this Agreement. The 
foregoing invoice shall contain sufficient detail (including the separate 
itemization of the Tasks, Subtasks, Support, Maintenance, Subscription, 
license, customizations, travel, and any other fees under the Agreement as 
appropriate) to allow Licensee to determine the accuracy of the amount(s) 
billed. All invoices shall be paid in U.S. dollars. All payments will be made in 
full within thirty (30) calendar days from the date of the invoice. 

b. Subscription invoice will be paid at the beginning of each subscription year. 
The Licensee will pay this invoice in full within thirty (30) calendar days of 
the invoice date.  

c. Any other invoices including customization or any other additional work will be 
issued separately on a case to case basis. The Licensee will pay this invoice in 
full within thirty (30) calendar days from the invoice date.  
 

d. Non-payment of any invoices:  
 

i. Annual subscription invoice for maintenance and support needs to be 
paid upfront each year for that subscription year. The invoice will be 
sent for payment at the beginning of each subscription year for that 
subscription year. If payment is not received for Annual Subscription 
invoice within thirty (30) calendar days from invoice date, AKTIVOV will 
notify Licensee of payment oversight and allow additional fifteen (15) 
calendar days for payment remedy. Otherwise, AKTIVOV reserves all 
rights to terminate this Agreement and the AKTIVOV Software License 
Agreement immediately and discontinue Licensee’s access to the 
Licensed Software and any Subscription for the Licensed Software.  

 
ii. If payment is not received for any other invoice within thirty (30) 

calendar days from the date of invoice, AKTIVOV will notify the CLIENT 
of payment oversight and allow additional fifteen (15) calendar days for 
payment. AKTIVOV will charge a six percent (6%) penalty if payment is 
not made by the end of the additional fifteen (15) days and thereafter 
will charge two percent (2%) per month interest in addition to any legal 
procedures costs that may be incurred to recover pending payments 
including penalties and interest. AKTIVOV also reserves rights to 

Exhibit F - 19

Page 81



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 13 | P a g e  

 

terminate this Agreement and the Aktivov Software License Agreement 
immediately and discontinue access to the Licensed Software and any 
Subscription for the Licensed Software. 

 
iii. If access to the Licensed Software and any Subscription for the 

Licensed Software is cut off for any issues/ reasons, AKTIVOV will 
charge a Time and Materials fee ($200 per hour, 10% increase year 
on year) to turn on all access after the issues/ reasons have been 
cured. 

 

4. AGREEMENT RENEWAL.  
 
The term of this Annual Subscription Agreement shall be two (2) years, commencing 
on the year after the initial implementation year with a 5% increase or overall CPI 
percent increase, whichever is higher, in the renewal price year on year until further 
notice. Both AKTIVOV and the Licensee have negotiated and agreed upon the yearly 
Subscription fees as provided in the attached quotation. The Annual Subscription 
Agreement may be renewed for multi-year terms at the end of the initial term under 
mutually acceptable payment terms. Changes to the subscription price as mutually 
agreed for further renewal cycles will be provided to the Licensee two (2) months 
before renewal.  
 
5. NOTICE.  

The following contact information will be used for mailing any notices using email or 
certified mail. Each Party will update the notice contact information below in writing 
(mail or email) if anything changes within 10 business days of such change. 

 
Arnab Bhowmick    Joseph Turner 
AKTIVOV LLC     City Administrator 
24919 SE 41st Dr,    2 South Main,  
Sammamish, WA 98029   South Hutchinson, KS 67505 
Email: arnab@aakavs.com   Email: josepht@southhutch.com 
 

6. EXCLUSIONS 

AKTIVOV excludes the following items from Subscription under this Agreement: 

a. Analysis or interpretation of any inputs and outputs (data, results, 
information related to the Licensee) related to the Licensed Software. 

Exhibit F - 20

Page 82



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 14 | P a g e  

 

b. Questions related to computer systems, operating systems, hardware, and 
peripherals that are not related to the use of the Licensed Software 

c. Licensee's data analysis, correction, debugs, data migration, loading into the 
Licensed Software etc. 

d. Any services necessitated as a result of any cause other than authorized 
ordinary and proper use by the Licensee of the Licensed Software, including 
but not limited to neglect, abuse, unauthorized modification, unauthorized 
updates or electrical, fire, water or other damage. 

e. Any services regarding customization of the Licensed Software including, but 
not limited to, custom features and functions, custom modules, custom scripts 
or interfaces or codes, custom integration with other systems etc. Any 
additional or custom functions, design, layouts, user experience or interfaces, 
and features etc. will not be part of regular subscription activity. These 
additional items will be scoped separately, and professional services for 
customization will be provided at an additional cost depending on the scope. 

f. Mobile hand-held or any hardware device or associated costs and upgrade/ 
replacements costs of any hardware or device are not included in regular 
subscription. Also note that any other software acquisition, update, or 
upgrade cost e.g. Windows OS upgrade cost on Licensee’s machines etc. are 
not included in regular subscription. 

g. Any additional module or additional functionalities that the Licensee will desire 
to buy and use will be priced separately at the time of purchase. This 
Agreement will be amended accordingly to provide subscription and support 
for such additional modules or functionalities. 

h. If the Licensee acquires more service connections or provide service to 
additional area, this Agreement will be amended to provide support for 
additional data for additional areas or service connections. 

This Subscription Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and 
be governed by, the laws of the State of Washington without reference to conflict of 
laws principles. Both AKTIVOV and Licensee agree to only pursue any legal procedures 
or actions in the Superior Court of King County, State of Washington, and waive their 
rights to change venue or pursue legal procedures or actions in any other forum. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Subscription 
Agreement to be effective, valid, and binding upon the parties as of the date 
below as executed by their duly authorized representatives. 

 

 

Exhibit F - 21

Page 83



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 15 | P a g e  

 

 

Accepted and Agreed:  

AKTIVOV LLC              CITY OF SOUTH HUTCHINSON, KS 

Name:__Arnab Bhowmick_______      Name:______________________ 

Title:____Founder_____________      Title:_______________________ 

Date:_____04/27/2022_________      Date:_______________________ 

 

Signature:___________________      Signature:___________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Exhibit F - 22

Page 84



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreement

 

 

Aktivov Asset Management 
 

 

Attn: Joseph Turner 

City Administrator 

City of South Hutchinson, KS 

ITEM DESCRIPTION

A. Aktivov Asset Management Software (hosted
system) Enterprise license and Professional 
Services for Rollout: 
Modules included: 

a. Please refer to attached excel file for the 
modules selected by you.

b. Implementation Timeline: 3 to 4 months

B. Develop GIS data, layouts on the WWTP, lift 
stations. One time effort to get you started:

a. Create your GIS for free for water, 
wastewater, and streets assets according to 
the 2 CAD/PDF files provided to us.

b. Develop and setup 1WWTP and 12 lift 
station layouts 

 

Total $7,000 discount provided to get you started.

ANNUAL MAINTENANCE is incl
annual maintenance will be charged in YEAR 1. We have deep discounted the license and the 
professional services fees to help you get started.
price.  

 

 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 

QUOTE # 

VALID TILL: 0

 

ITEM DESCRIPTION Base Price YEAR 1 

Aktivov Asset Management Software (hosted 
system) Enterprise license and Professional 

Please refer to attached excel file for the 
modules selected by you. 
Implementation Timeline: 3 to 4 months 

$20,000 - $2,000 
=$18,000 

(10% special discount 
provided) 

Initial Lic. Fee=$10,000 

Prof. Serv.=$8,000 

Total year 1=$18,000 

Develop GIS data, layouts on the WWTP, lift 
One time effort to get you started: 

Create your GIS for free for water, 
wastewater, and streets assets according to 

files provided to us. 
Develop and setup 1WWTP and 12 lift 

$5,000 - $5,000=$0 

(100% discount provided)

Total $7,000 discount provided to get you started. 

ANNUAL MAINTENANCE is included for YEAR 1 in the BASE PRICE YEAR 1. No separate 
annual maintenance will be charged in YEAR 1. We have deep discounted the license and the 
professional services fees to help you get started. Applicable State sales tax will be collected on the 

 16 | P a g e  

Quote 

QUOTE # SHUTCHKS/2022/01 

DATE: 04/18/22 

VALID TILL: 05/31/22 

Annual 
Maintenance 

YEAR 2 

 

$10,000 

(100% discount provided) 

There is no 
annual GIS 

maintenance 
contract at this 

point. 

uded for YEAR 1 in the BASE PRICE YEAR 1. No separate 
annual maintenance will be charged in YEAR 1. We have deep discounted the license and the 

Applicable State sales tax will be collected on the 

Exhibit F - 23

Page 85



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 17 | P a g e  

 

The following items are included in the price: 

1. Everything Unlimited: 
a. All users will have concurrent and unlimited access to web based system on desktop/ 

laptop and on mobile phones and tablets. We will provide unlimited user logins per user 
(same login on different devices) for concurrent login on the web and multiple mobile 
devices. 

b. Unlimited number of Users 
c. Unlimited number of Devices 
d. Unlimited Assets 
e. Unlimited Annexations and Growth 
f. Unlimited Cloud Space for storage, backup, DR, fail-over etc. 
g. Unlimited Departments and Divisions 

2. Devices Supported: 
a. Latest computers, smart phones and tablets from 2018 onwards  
b. Chrome web browser 
c. iOS 9x and upwards 
d. Android 5x and upwards 
e. Windows 8x and upwards 

3. High level tasks: 
a. Project Kickoff 
b. Workshop Preps and Background Info Review 
c. Advanced Design/ Workflow Workshops 
d. Configuration, Customizations Workshops 
e. All Documentations 
f. Perform all configurations, and implementations 
g. Test Cycles 
h. Training 
i. GO LIVE 
j. Project Management 

4. Professional Services required for Rollout includes: 
a. All asset types that you handle.  
b. All related PM meetings, project related meetings, and ad hoc meetings included 
c. Workshops and meetings as needed (remote or in person as needed) to gather 

requirements for configurations, user levels, access, read/ write, lookup tables, system 
security etc. 

d. Design documentation for configurations for the modules purchased (as needed) 
e. Perform Configurations and Set up 
f. User testing and acceptance 
g. Fix bugs 
h. Test cycles – alpha, beta, GO LIVE 
i. Unlimited and Free Training 
j. Production Rollout 

5. Annual Maintenance/Support Subscription for Aktivov Software starts at the beginning 
of the subscription year for the subscription year.  

Exhibit F - 24

Page 86



 

AKTIVOV Software License Agreements – Confidential. Do Not Circulate. 18 | P a g e  

 

 
a. Unlimited cloud space, training, data storage, backup, disaster recovery, training, 

patches, updates/ upgrades of purchased modules  
b. Access to support, web training, online learning center, and bug ticketing system  
c. Monitor and fix all bugs as reported 
d. Unlimited Phone, web, and email support 

 

Thank you for your business. Please contact me if you have any questions. We are looking forward to get 
you started.  

Thanks and Best Regards, 

 

Arnab Bhowmick,  

Aktivov Asset Management. 

arnab@aakavs.com 

425.245.3569 

 

 

Exhibit F - 25

Page 87



 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

ITEM: 
H 1 

 

 

Meeting Date:   May 2, 2022 
Department:   Administration 
Prepared By:  Joseph Turner, City Administrator 
Agenda Title:  Independence Day Fireworks Show 

 

Background/Analysis – City staff have been working to coordinate our Independence Day 
Fireworks Show for Saturday, July 2. Here is an update on some items: 
 

1. We are game planning something along the lines of 5 PM to approximately 9:30 
when the fireworks show would start 

2. Wichita Tractor has agreed to allow us to use their vacant parcel for parking 
3. Ronnie and I have met with bounce house vendors to discuss options and vendor 

electrical needs 
a. We have also discussed the installation of a permanent electrical 

outlet/infrastructure for this and future events 
4. Ronnie and I met with Zak Kirk about any planned baseball events. He is attempting 

to put together a tournament 
5. I have contacted Eagle Radio to explore the possibility of them doing a live broadcast 

of one of their station’s music during the event 
6. No outreach at this time as of yet to food vendors 
7. I have had preliminary discussions with Matt Mock, the chairman of Market South 

Hutch to gauge interest in funding this event and I have received positive feedback 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

ITEM: 
H 2 

 

 

Meeting Date:   May 2, 2022 
Department:   Administration 
Prepared By:  Joseph Turner, City Administrator 
Agenda Title:  Review & Update of Land Development Code 

 

Background/Analysis – Recent projects, issues, and communications between the city 
administrator, members of the governing body, and residents indicate that there is quite a bit 
of unease and concern as to whether our current land development code and zoning 
districts adequately reflect the desires of the governing body and community. 
 
This includes, but is not limited to, the following: 
 

1. Main Street development 
2. Size of buildings relative to lot size and neighboring buildings/structures 
3. Building type/appearance relative to neighboring buildings/structures and its impact 

on property values 
4. Housing density 

 
Our current code was last updated in 2001. Since that time, considerable changes have 
occurred in the type of housing now generally available to the public, business and 
commerce, along with the impact of technological advancements in the areas of working 
from home and homebased businesses. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



 

 

 

Fire Department 
2 South Main 
South Hutchinson, KS 67505 
Office: 620-663-7104 
Fax: 620-662-3030 
 

Activity Report 

May 2nd, 2022   
 

• Scheduling annual truck and air pack testing with other departments for a price 

break. 
 

• 2 - Fire Extinguisher Classes coming up for OneOk. 
 

• Working with HCC and KSFFA on the Regional School for May 21st and 22nd.  
 

• Scheduling a station tour with the South Hutch After Kids program. 
 

• Going live with our new reporting program May 1st.  
 

• June 5th the Fire Department will be hosting a Pancake Feed Fundraiser. We are 

raising money towards a thermal imaging camera for our Brush Truck and Coats 

for our Firefighters. 

 

• Greg Henke has accepted the position of 2nd Assistant Fire Chief. He has over 25 

years of experience, a degree in Fire Science, EMT, Haz Mat Technician, and 

experience as a Training Officer. He will be assisting with maintaining equipment 

and other station duties. We are honored and excited about his moving up to an 

Officer.  
 

• Hutchinson Fire Department sent a letter thanking the department for the 

assistance and support during the Cottonwood Complex Fires, see attached.  

 

• We currently have 5 Fireworks applications turned in. 

 

  

Page 90



Page 91



Pancake Breakfast Fundraiser 

 

Sunday, June 5th, 2022 

8:30 am to 1:00 pm 

South Hutchinson Fire Department 

20 East Blanchard 

Free will donations 

Page 92



 

 
 
 
 

                                                PUBLIC WORKS REPORT  
                                      
To: Honorable Mayor and City Council 
From Ronnie Pederson, Public Works Superintendent 
Re: Public Works Superintendent report for May 2nd City Council Meeting                                                            
Date:  April 28th, 2022                                                           

 

                                                                                            

Streets 
• Cut eyebrows off 6th street and Scott boulevard. (21 dump truck loads of dirt removed)   

• Stop sign and street sign replacement at Morningside and glass manor. (Hit by vehicle) 

• Pulled crane on sewer service truck to replace hydraulic lines that broke. 

• Changed out road grader cutting edge blades on unit. 
• Ordered 2 pallets of crafco pothole patch. (Received) 

• Serviced front end loader. 

• Mowed hike bike trails. 
• Mowed irrigated city properties. 

• Mowed some rough-cut city properties. 

• Stocked community building with restroom supplies.                                            

 
Water 

• New water service installed at 45 Detroit. 
• New water service installed at 421 Sunnydale. 
• Started new 2” irrigation water service installation at 421 Sunnydale.   

• Apple boring bored 3 lines for the city for new water service installs.  

• Hydro excavated water service at 13 William’s for possible leak. (Customer side leak)  

• 100 block of East Ave B tapped main for service line replacement and new setter/pit due to 
leak on the city’s side of water meter. 

• Replaced water service at 222 E Forrest. pit/setter and lines due to leak on city side.  

• Temp water meter repair on Des Moines.  
• Multiple water meter checks for possible leaks. 

• Water meter checks for high water consumption. 

• Red tag shut offs. 

• One call utility locates. 
 
 

 
 

Page 93



 

 
 
                                        PUBLIC WORKS REPORT (cont.)                                    
                                  
 
 

Wastewater 
• Daily and weekly checks, inspections, and lab testing completed at the wastewater facility and 

lift stations. 
• Wasted sludge at treatment facility. 

• Pressed sludge at treatment plant. 

• Pulled 503 sludge regulation samples from digesters for yearly analysis. 
• Completed and sent application for our wastewater permit renewal to KDHE.                                         

• Monthly KDHE state wastewater samples collected. 

• Working with Hach to replace the dissolved oxygen sensor on the aeration basin that we are 
having the diffusers replaced in. It will need to be upgraded to a current model LD02 sensor. 

 
• Clean infusion has started the aeration basin diffuser replacement project at the wastewater 

treatment facility. The old system has already been removed and the new system is being 
installed. 

 

• We received a quote from stainless-steel manufacturing on repairs to a baffle in the east 
aeration basin at the wastewater plant. ($7,825.00) This baffle is where the diffuser 
replacement project has been started by clean infusion. After assessing the repairs and price 
the public works department did the repairs in house for ($135.00) in materials. 

 

• Changed out new pump at trails west lift station with rebuilt pump. (New pump back in storage 
for spare) 

• One call utility locates. 
 
 

Parks 
• Zenor electric has completed the new pole and light install at the ball fields and repaired any 

issues caused from wind damage to all remaining lights and fixtures. 

• Cleaned area and sprayed weeds at Voss water park. 
• Cleaned up and weeded playground area at ball field. 

 

 
 

 
 
 

                                                                                                                                       

Page 94



CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 

To: Honorable Mayor and City Council 
From: Joseph Turner, City Administrator 
Re: City Administrator Report for May 2nd Regular City Council Meeting 
Date: April 29, 2022 

 

Independence Day Festival 
 
City staff have been working on the organization and planning of this event. Will report in more 
detail during the discussion item. 
 
Surplus Auction Update 
 
The wheel loader sold for $48,500 on an auction site. We are pleased with this number. A 
vendor in the region offered us $40,000 before we put it up for sale. The crack sealing 
equipment is live now and will be up for bid over the next couple of weeks. 
 
City Brush Pile  
 
Our brush pile will be open from 8 am to 5 pm on the second Saturday of each week beginning 
on May 14th. An announcement has been made on Facebook and we will attempt to get the 
word out through other channels.  
 
Garage Sale/Citywide Clean-up 
 
This year our citywide garage sale and clean-up will occur on Saturday, June 11.   
 
KDHE Consent Order 
 
We received an update from KDHE stating that they are still working on the final consent order. 
It is taking longer than we expected and as a result we expect the timeline we initially 
submitted to be extended an additional three months. 
 
Special Projects & Associated Research 
 
I have been working extensively on special projects discussed at the previous council meeting 
including, but not limited to, the development of workforce housing, Sunday alcohol sales, and 
sales tax revenues. I have also been researching the process on how to transition to a second 
class city and exploring the positive and negative consequences of such a move. However, I do 
not have any substantive information to share publicly at this time. 
 

Page 95


	Agenda Packet Part 1.pdf (p.1-61)
	May 2, 2022 Council Meeting Agenda.pdf (p.1)
	ITEM F1. Consent Agenda.pdf (p.2)
	ITEM F1. Exhibit A. April 18, 2022 Council Meeting Minutes.pdf (p.3-4)
	ITEM F2. Exhibit B. May 2, 2022 invoices.pdf (p.5-7)
	ITEM G1. Cell Tower Special Use Permit Application.pdf (p.8-10)
	ITEM G1. Exhibit C. Harmoni Towers Special Use Permit Application Packet.pdf (p.11-24)
	Harmoni Towers Special Use Permit Application 3-17-2022.pdf (p.1-4)
	Harmoni Towers Special Use Permit Application Cover Letter 3-17-2022.pdf (p.5)
	Harmoni Towers Project Plans & Drawings.pdf (p.6-12)
	Map Showing Distance Between Two Towers.pdf (p.13)
	Parcel Map.pdf (p.14)

	ITEM G1. Exhibit D. Harmoni Towers Supporting Documents.pdf (p.25-42)
	Legal Letter from Harmoni Towers (Glenda Cafer) 3-8-22.pdf (p.1-10)
	Cafer Ltr to J.Turner 4 26 22.pdf (p.11-13)
	FAA Determination Letter 10-31-2021.pdf (p.14-18)

	ITEM G1. Exhibit E. SBA Towers Supporting Documents.pdf (p.43-60)
	Stinson Handouts.pdf (p.1-11)
	Stinson Letter to South Hutchinson - 4.29.22 letter to City.PDF (p.12-18)

	ITEM G2. Market South Hutchinson Appointment.pdf (p.61)

	Agenda Packet Part 2.pdf (p.62-95)
	ITEM G3. GIS-Asset Management Software Vendor Agreement.pdf (p.1)
	ITEM G3. Exhibit F. Aktivov Vendor Agreement & Quote.pdf (p.2-26)
	SouthhutchinsonKS PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT.pdf (p.1-7)
	SouthHutchinsonKS Aktivov Appendix A.pdf (p.8-25)

	ITEM H1. Independence Day Fireworks Show.pdf (p.27)
	ITEM H2. Review & Update of Land Development Code.pdf (p.28)
	ITEM R1. SHFD Activity Report.pdf (p.29)
	ITEM R2. SHFD Letter of Appreciation from Hutchinson.pdf (p.30)
	ITEM R3. SHFD Pancake Breakfast Fundraiser1.pdf (p.31)
	ITEM R4. SHPW Report.pdf (p.32-33)
	ITEM R5. Adminstrators Report 5-2-2022.pdf (p.34)


